
 

 
 

 
Oaklands Road  
Haywards Heath  
West Sussex  
RH16 1SS 

 
Switchboard:  01444 458166 

 
DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1 

www.midsussex.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Working together for a better Mid Sussex 

 
 

8 January 2020 
 

 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER at these offices on 

THURSDAY, 16TH JANUARY, 2020 at 7.00 pm when your attendance is requested. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

KATHRYN HALL 

Chief Executive 

 

A G E N D A 
 

  Pages 

1.   To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   To receive Declarations of Interest from Members in respect of any 
matter on the Agenda. 
 

 

3.   To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 19 
December 2019 
 

3 - 8 

4.   To consider any items that the Chairman agrees to take as urgent 
business. 
 

 

Items Recommended for Approval. 
 

5.   DM/19/3138 – Royal British Legion, 30 Cyprus Road, Burgess Hill, 
RH15 8DX. 
 

9 - 54 

6.   DM/19/3148 – Royal British Legion, 30 Cyprus Road, Burgess Hill, 
RH15 8DX 
 

55 - 62 

7.   DM/19/3357 – High Trees, 41 Hickmans Lane Lindfield, RH16 2BZ 
 

63 - 90 

Items Recommended for Refusal. 
 
None. 
 



 
 
Other Matters. 
 
None. 
 

8.   Questions pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 10 due notice of 
which has been given. 
 

 

 
 

Human Rights Act 
 

The reports and recommendations set out in this agenda have been prepared having regard 
to the requirements of the Human Rights Act 1998. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 

In formulating the recommendations on the agenda, due consideration has been given to 
relevant planning policies, government guidance, relative merits of the individual proposal, 
views of consultees and the representations received in support, and against, the proposal. 

 
The assessment of the proposal follows the requirements of the 1990 Town and Country 
Planning Act and is based solely on planning policy and all other material planning 
considerations. 

 
Members should carefully consider and give reasons if making decisions contrary to the 
recommendations, including in respect of planning conditions. 

 
Where specifically relevant, for example, on some applications relating to trees, and on 
major proposals which are likely to have a significant impact on the wider community, 
potential risks associated with the proposed decision will be referred to in the individual 
report. 

 
NOTE: All representations, both for and against, the proposals contained in the agenda have been 

summarised.  Any further representations received after the preparation of the agenda will 
be reported verbally to Members at the meeting. Any other verbal or additional information 
will be presented at the meeting. 

 
The appropriate files, which are open to Member and Public Inspection, include copies of all 
representations received. 

 
Members are also reminded the representations, plans and application file will also be 
available for inspection at these offices from 6.00 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 
 
To: Members of Planning Committee: Councillors G Marsh, P Coote, G Allen, R Cartwright, 

E Coe-Gunnell White, J Dabell, R Eggleston, A MacNaughton, C Phillips, M Pulfer, 
D Sweatman and N Walker 
 

 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Planning Committee 
held on Thursday, 19th December, 2019 

from 7.00  - 8.01 pm 
 
 

Present: G Marsh (Chairman) 
P Coote (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

G Allen 
E Coe-
Gunnell White 
J Dabell 
 

R Eggleston 
A MacNaughton 
C Phillips 
 

M Pulfer 
D Sweatman 
N Walker 
 

 
Absent: Councillors R Cartwright 
 
 
 

1 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Cartwright. 
 

2 TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT OF 
ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA.  
 
Councillor Dabell declared a pre-determined interest in DM/19/4180 - Stone Quarry 
Post Office, Hollands Way, East Grinstead, RH19 3EN, as he was involved in the 
application as a Town Councillor however; he had an open mind about the 
application. 
 
Councillor Marsh declared a pre-determined interest in DM/19/4180 - Stone Quarry 
Post Office, Hollands Way, East Grinstead, RH19 3EN, as he a Member of the 
Cabinet that signed off the lease but he has no personal interest in the application.  
 

3 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE HELD ON 
28 NOVEMBER 2019.  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 28 November 2019 
were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

4 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN AGREES TO TAKE AS 
URGENT BUSINESS.  
 
The Chairman had no urgent business. 
 

5 DM/18/0421 - LINDEN HOUSE, SOUTHDOWNS PARK, HAYWARDS HEATH, 
RH16 4XJ.  
 
Joe Swift, Planning Officer, introduced the application, and highlighted the changes 
on the Agenda Update Sheet including the addition of a clause, which was agreed by 
the applicant, to install future proofed electric charging points together with a 
condition to secure three accessible units. He explained that the application seeks 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
 

outline consent for the demolition of an existing vacant building and erection of a 14 
unit apartment block at Linden House, Southdowns Park, Haywards Heath. He noted 
that access is the only matter reserved for future approval and that the appearance of 
the building, landscaping, layout and scale are subject of the application. 
  
Guy Gibberson, agent for the application, spoke in favour of the application.  
 
Steve Ashdown, Team Leader for Major Development & Investigations, explained 
that the lack of affordable housing was mitigated by the vitality assessment which 
showed that it would make the application unviable to include affordable housing at 
this point however in accordance with the Council’s SPD this will be reviewed once 
75% of the housing is sold. A Member agreed that the clause to include the future 
proofed electric charging points was very positive and sought further information on 
the traffic management scheme due to the narrow road that leads to the application 
site; and the environmental aspects of the building such as solar panels.  
  
The Chairman noted that the environmental conditions had been met for the 
construction and demolition as listed in condition 35.  
 
The Planning Officer agreed to add a traffic management and wheel washing clause 
to the conditions.  
 
 A Member suggested that 3 storeys may have been better than 4 as agreed by the 
Urban Designer and asked why this was changed to 4.  
 
The Planning Officer explained that as the bank on which the building would stand 
was to be lowered, this would equate to the proposed building being only increased 
by 1.1m in height and this was in line with the chapel therefore in keeping with the 
surrounding area.  
 
The Chairman took Members to the recommendation to approve the application, 
proposed by the Vice-Chairman and seconded by Councillor Pulfer, which was 
approved unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in and Agenda 
Update Sheet and Appendix A subject to the completion of the S106 agreement to 
secure a viability review on the sale of 75% of the units. 
 

6 DM/19/3144 - LAND EAST OF KINGSWAY, BURGESS HILL, RH15 0XQ.  
 
Steve Ashdown, Team Leader for Major Development & Investigations, introduced 
the application and highlighted the condition to add electric charging points in the 
Agenda Update Sheet. He explained that the application is a full application for 39 
new dwellings (including the provision of 23 on-site affordable homes) a new 
Community Centre and retail floor space to the ground floor of Block B, including the 
provision of associated parking and landscaping. He noted that the application was 
before the committee as the outline consent has now lapsed, and while Phases 1-3a 
have been completed, a  full application was required for this phases, and 
subsequent remaining phases. As the previous phases were not able to achieve 30% 
affordable housing, this phase has a much higher level of affordable housing to 
ensure that across all phases the affordable housing is at the correct level.  
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 4



 
 

 
 

The Chairman noted that all conditions had been met and took Members to the 
recommendation to approve the application, proposed by Councillor MacNaughton 
and seconded by Councillor Coe-Gunnell White, which was approved unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be approved subject to the conditions set out in the Agenda 
Update Sheet and Recommendation A and B: 
 
Recommendation A 
 
Subject to the completion of a satisfactory deed of variation of the S106 planning 
obligation relating to outline planning permission 12/01532/OUT, as set out in the 
Assessment section below, planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
set out in Appendix A. 
 
Recommendation B 
 
If the applicants have not completed a satisfactory signed planning obligation by the 
19th March 2019, then it is recommended that permission be refused, at the 
discretion of the Divisional Leader for Planning and Economy, for the following 
reason: 
 
'In the absence of a signed legal deed of variation of the S106 planning obligation 
relating to outline planning permission12/01532/OUT the development as such 
conflicts with Policies DP20 and of the Mid Sussex District Plan as well as the 
Council's SPD's entitled 'Development Infrastructure and Contributions' and 
'Affordable Housing'. 
 

7 DM/19/3330 - 1 THE MEADOW, COPTHORNE, CRAWLEY, RH10 3RG.  
 
The Chairman informed Members that this application was before the Committee as 
Councillor Budgen is the agent of the applicant. He noted there were no speakers or 
questions and so took Members to the recommendation to approve the application, 
proposed by Councillor Sweatman and seconded by Councillor Coe-Gunell White 
which was approved unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That permission be granted subject to the conditions outlined at Appendix A. 
 

8 DM/19/4133 - 1 THE GLEBE, LINDFIELD, HAYWARDS HEATH, RH16 2JS.  
 
The Chairman informed Members that this application was before the Committee as 
the applicant is a Council Member. He noted there were no speakers or questions 
and so took Members to the recommendation to approve the application, which was 
proposed by The Vice-Chair and seconded by Councillor Walker. This was approved 
unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
That permission be granted subject to the condition set out in Appendix A.  
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 5



 
 

 
 

9 DM/19/4180 - STONE QUARRY POST OFFICE, HOLLANDS WAY, EAST 
GRINSTEAD, RH19 3EN.  
 
Tom Clark, Solicitor to the Council explained that this application is before the 
Committee as the Council is the land holder. He also noted that the use of the land is 
not for this Committee as the application only covers the change of use of the 
building.  
 
Anna Tidey, Planning Officer, introduced the application, noting that the Agenda 
Update Sheet contains additional consultees and additional representations and that 
the application seeks a determination as to whether prior approval is required for the 
conversion of a 33 square metre Post Office (Class A1) into a one bed studio unit 
(Class C3 residential) at Stone Quarry Post Office, off Hollands Way in East 
Grinstead. The proposed studio flat would provide a shared bedroom/living space 
with a separate kitchen and shower room. The application is being reported to 
committee as MSDC is the landowner. She noted that planning permission is not 
required when uses fall within the same class, or under the general permitted order, 
where a change of use is permitted from A1 to C3 for units up to 150sqm2, subject to 
a prior approval process.  
 
Councillor Julie Mockford, Ward member and on behalf of East Grinstead of Town 
Council, spoke against the application. She noted that the application does not 
comply with DP25 strategic objective 12 and that the post office is a vital community 
facility, purpose built as a community building applicable of protection under the 
DP25 policy.  
 
Councillor Liz Bennet, Ward Member, spoke that the post office it is a necessity, and 
plays a service to elderly residents and has high social value.  
 
Steve Ashdown, Team Leader for Major Development & Investigations, explained 
that under the prior approval process, District Plan policies (DP25) and the 
neighbourhood plan are not material considerations. He noted as there are no 
external changes to the building and given the adequate provision of A1 units within 
the area, the application is deemed to be acceptable in accordance with the prior 
approval process.  
 
The Chairman noted that the Members must stick to the application as it was before 
the Committee.  
 
Members discussed what could be considered when judging the application and 
discussed the flaws of the application including the final design and issues 
surrounding the space of the final dwelling. 
 
The Solicitor to the Council explained that this was not part of the application and 
could not be considered.  
 
A Member said that a similar application in Burgess Hill had previously been rejected 
and noted the poor design of the dwelling.  
 
The Team Leader for Major Development & Investigations, noted that if this was a full 
planning application the considerations would extend to these features, however, due 
to the application being one of prior approval this was not within the criteria.  
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 6



 
 

 
 

The Chairman took Members to the recommendation to approve the application, 
which was proposed by Councillor Coe-Gunnell White and seconded by Councillor 
MacNaughton. The application was approved with 9 votes for and 2 against.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
Prior approval for the proposed change of use should be granted subject to the 
conditions listed at Appendix A and the Agenda Update Sheet. 
 

10 DM/19/2060 - FIRS FARM, COPTHORNE COMMON ROAD, COPTHORNE, RH10 
3LF.  
 
Steve Ashdown, Team Leader for Major Development & Investigations, introduced 
the application for the demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings on the site and 
the erection of 44 dwellings containing a mix of 1 bedroom flats and 2 and 3 bedroom 
houses. He noted that it proposed that 14 of the 44 dwellings proposed will be for 
affordable housing. He noted that this area of land has had previous applications 
which have been rejected, and that the Council has won 2 appeals on the site. 
 
On a general matter, he advised the committee of a recent appeal decision within 
which the Inspector confirmed that the Council had a five-year land supply. 
Furthermore, the appeal provided a good definition with regard to C2 extra care 
housing. 
 
The Team Leader for Major Development & Investigations highlighted that a similar 
application for 54 houses has been refused and this application for 44 is located in a 
countryside area, with access off the A264. he briefly set out the issues raised in the 
report and  highlighted the Agenda Update Sheet which provided a further reason for 
refusal.  
 
Councillor Phillips, Ward Member, noted that access to the site is very close to the 
roundabout and therefore would be unsafe, that the location not sustainable, and that 
one small shop adjacent to the application site would not be sufficient. He also 
highlighted that this would essentially be a new settlement as is not close enough to 
either Crawley Down or Copthorne to be considered an extension of these villages.  
 
The Vice-Chairman expressed his agreement with Councillor Phillips, in that the 
access road would be unsafe and the location not suitable.  
 
The Chairman took members to the recommendation to refuse the application, which 
was proposed by Councillor Phillips and Seconded by Councillor Coote. The 
application was refused unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in Appendix A. 
 

11 QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 10 DUE NOTICE OF 
WHICH HAS BEEN GIVEN.  
 
None. 
 

 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 7



 
 

 
 

The meeting finished at 8.01 pm 
 

Chairman 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 8



 

MID SUSSEX DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Planning Committee 
 

16 JAN 2020 

 
RECOMMENDED FOR PERMISSION 
 

Burgess Hill 
 

DM/19/3138 
 

 
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100021794 
 
 

ROYAL BRITISH LEGION HALL 30 CYPRUS ROAD BURGESS HILL 
WEST SUSSEX 
DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING ROYAL BRITISH LEGION CLUB AND 
ERECTION OF AN ENTERTAINMENT AND COMMUNITY VENUE, TO 
INCLUDE A 237-SEAT THEATRE, A MULTI-PURPOSE 
DANCE/REHEARSAL STUDIO, MEETING ROOMS AND DRESSING 
ROOM/SUPPORT SPACES. THE FLEXIBLE FRONT-OF-HOUSE FOYER 
SPACES WILL INCORPORATE AN ASSOCIATED CAFÉ/BAR 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 9

Agenda Item 5



 

OPERATION TO SUPPORT THE AUDITORIUM FUNCTION. THERE WILL 
BE RE-LANDSCAPING WORKS TO THE NORTH AND SOUTH OF THE 
NEW BUILDING AND TO THE ALLEYWAY TO THE EAST (ALONGSIDE 
CYPRUS HALL). 
MR STEVEN CRIDLAND 
 
POLICY: Brownfield Land / Built Up Areas / District Plan Policy / Aerodrome 

Safeguarding (CAA) / Radon Gas Safeguarding Zone / Sewer Line 
(Southern Water) / SWT Bat Survey /  

  
ODPM CODE: Smallscale Major Retail 
 
8 WEEK DATE: 29th November 2019 
 
WARD MEMBERS: Cllr Robert Eggleston /  Cllr Tofojjul Hussain /   
 
CASE OFFICER: Andrew Watt 
 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To consider the recommendation of the Divisional Leader for Planning and Economy 
on the application for planning permission as detailed above. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of the former Royal British 
Legion Club building (use class D1) and the erection of an entertainment and 
community venue (D2 use) in its place.  This will comprise a 237-seat theatre, a 
multi-purpose dance/rehearsal studio, meeting rooms, dressing room/support 
spaces, foyer spaces and associated café/bar.  The proposal also includes re-
landscaping works to the north (rear) and south (front) of the new building and to the 
alleyway to the east (alongside Cyprus Hall). 
 
The application is being determined at committee level as Mid Sussex District 
Council owns the northern part of the site. 
 
Planning legislation requires the application to be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  It is therefore 
necessary for the planning application to be assessed against the policies in the 
Development Plan and then to take account of other material planning 
considerations including the NPPF. 
 
The need for this facility has been identified in the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan 
and detailed in the submitted Statement of Community Involvement, which notes that 
the proposed scheme has been led by a steering group consisting of 50% local 
councillors and 50% representatives of local user groups.  The venue will be named 
'The Beehive Centre' if planning permission is granted. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 10



 

It is considered that the principle of this development is acceptable in accordance 
with development plan policies.  As the council's Leisure team has stated, "It will be 
a welcome addition to leisure and amenity facilities in the town."  The design of the 
building is bold and striking, but its increased scale can be justified on the grounds of 
the public benefits of the scheme and the usage itself enlivening and optimising this 
town centre location.  It will unquestionably contribute to the cultural quarter of 
Burgess Hill. 
 
Objections from neighbouring residents are acknowledged in what is also a 
residential street.  Whilst the building will not result in an overbearing form of 
development or significantly harmful overlooking to neighbouring occupiers, given 
the distance and front-to-front or front-to-side relationships, noise and lighting 
impacts will occur.  However, the scheme has been accompanied by specialist 
reports that identify how these impacts can be mitigated and accordingly conditions 
are recommended. 
 
The increased patronage of the building on this site by users and staff will not have 
an adverse impact on the local road network and nor on the adjoining council-owned 
car park, and hence there are no transport grounds on which to resist this proposal. 
 
Other matters such as drainage, land contamination, sustainability and biodiversity 
can be conditioned as part of any planning permission. 
 
There will be no likely significant effect on the Ashdown Forest SPA and SAC. 
 
For the above reasons, the proposal is deemed to comply with Policies DP2, DP7, 
DP17, DP21, DP24, DP26, DP28, DP29, DP38, DP39 and DP41 of the Mid Sussex 
District Plan, Policies TC1, TC6 and S3 of the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan and 
the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.  Planning permission 
should therefore be granted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the application be approved subject to the conditions set out 
in Appendix A. 
 

 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
(Full responses from Consultees are included at the end of this report as Appendix 
B) 
 
MSDC Contaminated Land Officer 
 
No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
MSDC Drainage Engineer 
 
No objection, subject to condition. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 11



 

MSDC Environmental Protection Officer 
 
No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
MSDC Leisure Officer 
 
The need for this facility has been identified in the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan 
and it will be a welcome addition to leisure and amenity facilities in the town. 
 
MSDC Parking Services 
 
The adjacent car park should be well placed to provide parking capacity for the 
evening activities suggested but capacity for daytime performances may well be 
compromised by existing demand for the car park, even if modal shift mitigates 
pressure. 
 
MSDC Street Naming and Numbering Officer 
 
Informative requested. 
 
MSDC Urban Designer 
 
The proposal is welcomed as it is not only a superior building than the one it 
replaces, but it also introduces a new use that should animate this town centre street 
especially with its open glazed façade that reveals the front foyer bar/cafe. While the 
building is significantly larger than the one it replaces (and in relation to its immediate 
neighbours) it is nevertheless similar to the existing nearby Orion Cinema; the 
additional scale can also be justified by its public use and its optimisation of a central 
location.  
 
Although the asymmetric multi-layered form of the frontage is a little busy, overall 
this is an exciting contemporary building that will have a positive impact upon the 
townscape with care being taken to add visual interest to the other highly visible 
facades, and in the re-landscaping of the pedestrian link to the Cyprus Road car 
park. 
 
I therefore raise no objections to this proposal, but as well as conditions covering 
facing materials and landscaping, I would also recommend the submission of 1:20 
scale section and elevational vignette of the glazed part of the Cyprus Road 
frontage, and a condition requiring the design and configuration of the top floor 
windows and signage on the west elevation to be subject to further approval. 
 
WSCC Drainage Strategy Team 
 
Detailed comments relating to surface water drainage and flood risk for the proposed 
development. 
 
WSCC Highways 
 
No objection, subject to conditions. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 12



 

Consultant Ecologist 
 
To be reported. 
 
Southern Water 
 
To be reported. 
 
Sussex Police 
 
No major concerns with the proposals, however, additional measures to mitigate 
against any identified local crime trends and site specific requirements should be 
considered. 
 
TOWN COUNCIL OBSERVATIONS 
 
OBSERVATIONS: Recommend Approval 
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7 letters of objection:  
 

 Un-neighbourly design 

 Modern appearance is out of keeping with its surroundings 

 Large amount of sunlight will provide a glare hazard to traffic and residents 
opposite 

 Light pollution 

 Loss of privacy 

 Street noise will increase in later hours 

 Parking obstructions 

 Pollution 

 Noise pollution 

 No smoking provision, so will cause problems with people coming and going and 
sound will escape 

 Alcohol will encourage people to talk more loudly 

 Antisocial behaviour will increase 

 Building will be an eyesore and the large slope will look totally out of place and 
will invite parkour enthusiasts to use it 

 Insufficient car parking provision will result in parking in Cyprus Road too, which 
is a one-way street 

 Building does not respect the existing building line 

 Gate in car park to the rear is not redundant, as stated - it is used as part of the 
Remembrance Sunday parade 

 No site for the RBL flagpole 

 Will the night time cooling strategy make a noise overnight? 

 Set down position in front of Cyprus Hall does not allow access to people using 
this neighbouring facility 

 Residents' mental health will suffer from demolition, building work and the final 
design of the building 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 13



 

 No mention what will happen if there is subsidence 

 No mention of how Japanese knotweed will be dealt with 

 Site not suitable for an entertainment venue of this size 

 Overbearing in size and scale and will result in loss of light and overshadowing 

 View of night sky will be obscured by scale of building and excessive lighting 

 Entrance should be at the back from the car park, not on Cyprus Road 

 Lighting is un-neighbourly on a residential street, causing light pollution 

 Tree planting appears to be a random addition 

 How will dust / debris and noise be managed during demolition? 

 Any issues over asbestos that residents need to be aware of? 

 How will the site be made safe during this phase? 

 Refuse store will be relocated and effectively shared with others 

 Loss of sunlight 

 Series of steps to the side will be used by skateboarders creating a hazard and 
noise 

 Who will maintain the planters? 

 Raised height of the new path will be above the damp proof course of Cyprus 
Hall and will be a target for intruders to these windows 

 The 'fin' at the front of Cyprus Hall will no doubt be vandalised 

 Flooding problems in the area 
 
1 letter of support from the Theatres Trust, which welcomes this development, 
effectively replacing the former Martlets Hall, which was demolished in 2015.  The 
site is in an accessible edge-of-centre location within the Civic and Cultural Quarter 
designated within the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan.  Theatres are recognised by 
the NPPF as being beneficial to the sustainability of communities.  The capacity of 
the theatre reflects that it will be used predominantly for small-scale, community and 
amateur productions and events, so is unlikely to require significant front-of-house or 
backstage provision or the ability to handle large goods vehicles.  The number of 
wheelchair positions are welcomed, although they are single positions with no 
companion seating.  Also, there are no accessible WCs on the upper ground floor 
level.  The building's limited footprint reduces the space available to the café/bar, 
meaning that whole audiences would have to use relatively limited space to the 
upper ground.  This may affect overall viability of bar sales if the time available for 
audiences to purchase and consume is constrained by congestion and queues.  
Limited space for staff is noted.  Welcome the public realm improvements as it will 
help make the area more inviting and more active when approaching along Cyprus 
Road, improving the perception of safety and discouraging anti-social behaviour. 
 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing Royal British 
Legion Club building (use class D1) and the erection of an entertainment and 
community venue (D2 use).  This will comprise a 237-seat theatre, a multi-purpose 
dance/rehearsal studio, meeting rooms, dressing room/support spaces, foyer spaces 
and associated café/bar.  The proposal also includes re-landscaping works to the 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 14



 

north (rear) and south (front) of the new building and to the alleyway to the east 
(alongside Cyprus Hall). 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The existing building has been extended by way of applications approved in 1974, 
1975 and 1980. 
 
In June 1998, advertisement consent was granted for 1 no. fascia sign to the rear of 
the club premises (BH/092/98). 
 
In June 2002, planning permission was granted for a front extension to 
accommodate a lift (02/00886/FUL). 
 
An application for advertisement consent has been submitted alongside this one and 
is being reported to this same committee for determination (DM/19/3148). 
 
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
The site consists of a vacant 2-storey flat-roofed building occupying a sloping plot 
between Cyprus Hall to the east and the Constitutional Club to the west.  Its frontage 
is onto Cyprus Road, with residential dwellings opposite, and backs onto the council-
owned car park. 
 
In policy terms, the site is located within the Town Centre Boundary as defined in the 
Mid Sussex District Plan and within the Civic and Cultural Quarter as defined in the 
Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan.  Cyprus Hall, adjoining the site to the north-east, 
is identified as a Building of Merit in the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan (Policy 
H1).  Land immediately north (part of the existing car park) is allocated for housing 
development. 
 
APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing Royal British 
Legion Club building (use class D1) and the erection of an entertainment and 
community venue (D2 use).  This will comprise a 237-seat theatre, a multi-purpose 
dance/rehearsal studio, meeting rooms, dressing room/support spaces, foyer spaces 
and associated café/bar.  The proposal also includes re-landscaping works to the 
north (rear) and south (front) of the new building and to the alleyway to the east 
(alongside Cyprus Hall).   
 
The proposed building will be arranged over 4 storeys and consist of the following 
uses: 
 
Lower Ground Floor: 

 2 rear accesses (from the MSDC car park), store, electric room, stage door, Main 
Stage, 131 seats, Male and Female WCs, and kitchen. 

 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 15



 

Upper Ground Floor: 

 Main entrance (from Cyprus Road), foyer/bar/coffee shop, Middle Seating Gallery 
(48 seats), dressing/meeting room, technical galleries either side of the Main 
stage beneath, and a WC/shower. 

 
First Floor: 

 Foyer and additional seating area above the bar/coffee shop, WCs, Upper 
Seating Gallery (53 seats), Meeting/dressing room, technical galleries and 
WC/shower. 

 
Second Floor: 

 Rooflit Dance/Rehearsal Studio, Meeting Room, en-suite shower room, dressing 
room and office. 

 Externally on the roof will be the plant deck. 
 
The total gross internal floor area will be 1154 sq m, replacing 701 sq m of existing 
D1 floorspace (i.e. an increase of 453 sq m). 
 
It is intended that the building will provide employment for 5 full-time employees. 
 
It is further intended that the building will make use of the adjoining MSDC car park 
to the rear.  The application form states that there are currently 290 spaces 
available, and the proposal will reduce this by 12 to 278, but increase the number of 
disability spaces from 15 to 17, so an overall net loss of 10.  This will be partially 
mitigated by the provision of 9 cycle storage spaces (currently 0).  A refuse storage 
building will be provided in this MSDC-owned area, with the cycle provision made 
adjacent.  The car parking provision in the car park will be re-configured and a 
shared pedestrian-friendly surface provided in front of Cyprus Hall. 
 
The building will be of a similar footprint and orientation to the existing building, albeit 
projecting forward onto Cyprus Road and rearwards into the car park.  Materials will 
be a mix of bricks at the lower level with larch cladding at upper levels punctuated 
with details such as glazed brick bands, brick lettering, powder coated aluminium 
coping and aluminium window frames.  The feature entrance to Cyprus Road will be 
covered with a pitched roof clad in clay tiles above a glazed frontage and edged with 
textured brickwork and glazed teal bricks. 
 
The application has been submitted to meet the Town Council's aspirations as set 
out in the Burgess Hill 'Town Wide Strategy' (August 2011) and the Burgess Hill 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Mid Sussex District Plan (Mar 2018) 
 
The Mid Sussex District Plan 2014-2031 was adopted by Full Council on 28 March 
2018.  Relevant policies include: 
 
Policy DP2: Town Centre Development 
Policy DP7: General Principles for Strategic Development at Burgess Hill 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 16



 

Policy DP17: Ashdown Forest Special Protection Area (SPA) and Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) 
Policy DP21: Transport 
Policy DP24: Leisure and Cultural Facilities and Activities 
Policy DP26: Character and Design 
Policy DP28: Accessibility 
Policy DP29: Noise, Air and Light Pollution 
Policy DP38: Biodiversity 
Policy DP39: Sustainable Design and Construction 
Policy DP41: Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
Development Infrastructure and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 
(Jul 2018) 
Waste Storage and Collection Guidance for New Developments (May 2015) 
 
Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan (Jan 2016) 
 
Mid Sussex District Council formally 'made' the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan 
part of the Local Development Plan for the Neighbourhood Plan area of Burgess Hill 
as of 27 January 2016.  The policies contained therein carry full weight as part of the 
Development Plan for planning decisions within the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood 
Plan area. 
 
Relevant policies include: 
 
Policy TC1: The Civic and Cultural Quarter 
Policy TC6: Urban Realm and Access in the Town Centre 
Policy S3: Protect and Enhance Existing Community and Medical Facilities 
 
National Policy and Other Documents 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Feb 2019) 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 is also a material 
consideration and paragraphs 8 (overarching objectives), 11 (presumption in favour 
of sustainable development), 12 (status of development plan), 38 (decision-making), 
47 (determining applications), 54 and 55 (use of conditions), 102 and 103 (promoting 
sustainable transport), 108 and 109 (highways matters), 124 and 127 (design), 148 
(transition to low carbon future), 153 and 154 (sustainability), 155, 158, 159, 160, 
161 and 163 (flood risk), 170 (enhancing the natural and local environment), 178 and 
179 (land contamination) and 180 (noise and light pollution) are considered to be 
relevant to this application. 
 
Planning Practice Guidance 
 
West Sussex County Council: Guidance on Parking at New Developments 
(Aug 2019) 
 
Planning Noise Advice Document: Sussex (Mar 2013) 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 17



 

Burgess Hill Town Wide Strategy (Aug 2011) 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
The main issues for consideration are: 
 

 The principle of development; 

 The design and visual impact on the character of the area; 

 The impact on neighbouring amenity; 

 Highways matters; 

 Drainage; 

 Land contamination; 

 Sustainability; 

 Biodiversity; 

 Habitats Regulations; 

 Accessibility; 

 Other matters; and 

 Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
Principle of development 
 
Planning legislation holds that the determination of a planning application shall be 
made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
Specifically Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states: 
 
'In dealing with such an application the authority shall have regard to: 
 

 The provisions of the development plan, so far as material to application, 

 Any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 

 Any other material considerations.' 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides: 
 
'If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination 
to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance 
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.' 
 
Using this as the starting point, the development plan in Mid Sussex consists of the 
Mid Sussex District Plan together with the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Policy DP2 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
 
'Town Centres 
These are defined as the town centres of Burgess Hill, East Grinstead and Haywards 
Heath which meet the needs of their communities and those of the surrounding large 
and small villages and countryside areas. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 18



 

 
To support the regeneration and renewal and environmental enhancement of the 
town centres as defined on the Policies Map - development, including mixed use and 
tourism related development, will be permitted providing it: 
 

 is appropriate in scale and function to its location including the character and 
amenities of the surrounding area; 

 has regard to the relevant Town Centre Masterplans and is in accordance with 
the relevant Neighbourhood Plan.' 

 
It is considered that the proposal complies with this policy in both respects (the first 
is assessed in detail in the Design section below). 
 
Policy DP7 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
'All strategic development at Burgess Hill, as shown on the inset map, is required to 
support the general principles set out in this policy. 
 
Strategic development will: 
 

 Be designed in a way that integrates it into the existing town providing 
connectivity with all relevant services and facilities; 

 Provide new and improved community, retail, cultural, educational, health, 
recreation, play and other facilities to create services and places that help to form 
strong local communities and encourage healthy lifestyles; 

 Wherever possible, incorporate on-site 'community energy systems', such as 
Combined Heat and Power or other appropriate low carbon technologies, to meet 
energy needs and create a sustainable development. The development shall also 
include appropriate carbon reduction, energy efficiency and water consumption 
reduction measures to demonstrate high levels of sustainability.' 

 
The proposed development maintains a central location for this facility within walking 
distance of the train station and near to bus services and adjacent to a public car 
park.  Typical town centre uses in close proximity to the site include a community 
building, social club, cinema, church and a number of retail and commercial units. 
 
Policy TC1 of the Neighbourhood Plan states: 
 
'This Quarter is focused on the Cyprus Road car park area with links through to 
Church Walk. Development that provides new, high quality and accessible 
community resources such as a new library, arts centre/theatre, civic offices and 
police station will be supported. Any development proposals will be required to 
provide public realm space including green areas, seating and outdoor space to 
create a focus for the community activities. New housing development will be 
acceptable in principle as part of a mixed use scheme only where it will facilitate the 
provision of the aforementioned community facilities. The existing level of car parking 
will be maintained within the area and the quality improved. A heritage centre is to be 
provided within one of the proposed civic buildings and the façade of the Orion 
Cinema will be retained.' 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 19



 

The proposal complies with this policy. 
 
Policy TC6 of the Neighbourhood Plan states (in part): 
 
'All new development within the town will be expected to provide for or contribute 
towards: 
 

 Improved accessibility and parking for disabled, mobility scooters and wheelchair 
users. 

 Pedestrian friendly schemes such as shared surfaces. ' 
 
The proposal provides a modern building that improves accessibility by means of 
internal lift access.  The existing external slope between the site and Cyprus Hall has 
a pinch point and a steep slope rising by 2.2m which will be levelled and laid to stairs 
to address the change in levels within this passageway.  Illumination of this area will 
be a key element of this proposal, and therefore it is considered the above policy 
would be met. 
 
Policy S3 of the Neighbourhood Plan states (in part): 
 
'The existing community facilities within Burgess Hill are important resources for the 
local community and should be retained. Support will be given to allocating new 
facilities or improving existing ones.' 
 
The proposal therefore complies with this policy in these broad terms, as the Town 
Wide Strategy of 2011 identified new and improved cultural facitilies for the town as 
part of its Vision. 
 
Overall, the principle of this development is deemed acceptable. 
 
Design and visual impact on the character of the area 
 
Policy DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
'All development and surrounding spaces, including alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings and replacement dwellings, will be well designed and reflect the 
distinctive character of the towns and villages while being sensitive to the 
countryside.  All applicants will be required to demonstrate that development: 
 

 is of high quality design and layout and includes appropriate landscaping and 
greenspace; 

 creates a sense of place while addressing the character and scale of the 
surrounding buildings and landscape; 

 protects open spaces, trees and gardens that contribute to the character of the 
area; 

 protects valued townscapes and the separate identity and character of towns and 
villages; 

 positively addresses sustainability considerations in the layout and the building 
design.' 

 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 20



 

The Council's Urban Designer has assessed the proposal and his comments are 
reported in full in Appendix B.  In summary, the proposal is welcomed in two 
respects: one, that it replaces an existing unused building with a superior building; 
and two, that it introduces a new use that should animate this town centre street. 
 
It is acknowledged that the building is significantly larger than the existing one, 
particularly in relation to its immediate neighbours.  However, it is considered that 
this scale can be justified by its optimisation of the space in a town centre location 
and the public benefits that will result. 
 
Whilst recognising that the asymmetric form of the building will result in greater 
prominence, the Urban Designer nevertheless describes it as "an exciting 
contemporary building that will have a positive impact upon the townscape with care 
being taken to add visual interest to the other highly visible facades, and in the re-
landscaping of the pedestrian link to the Cyprus Road car park."  There is similar 
recognition that the flank elevations will also be prominent above the rooftops of 
adjacent buildings along Cyprus Road, but the use of vertical cladding and timber 
slats will add visual interest, particularly as they serve a function in screening the 
unsightly roof structures.  The rear elevation facing the car park is enlivened by 
fenestration to match those of the flanks, providing a cohesiveness to the building on 
all sides. 
 
The reconfiguration of the landscaping layout to the side passageway adjacent to 
Cyprus Hall is also deemed beneficial to this site.  It removes a pinch point and 
replaces it with a consistent width of pedestrian walkway, which will continue to 
provide a good linkage between Cyprus Road and the car park and hence improve 
permeability through the town centre. 
 
Subject to the submission of further section and larger-scale elevation details in 
relation to the glazed part of the Cyprus Road (which can be secured through 
condition), it is considered that the proposal complies with the above policy. 
 
Impact on neighbouring amenity 
 
Policy DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
'All applicants will be required to demonstrate that development: 
 

 does not cause significant harm to the amenities of existing nearby residents and 
future occupants of new dwellings, including taking account of the impact on 
privacy, outlook, daylight and sunlight, and noise, air and light pollution (see 
Policy DP29)' 

 
 
 
Policy DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
'The environment, including nationally designated environmental sites, nationally 
protected landscapes, areas of nature conservation or geological interest, wildlife 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 21



 

habitats, and the quality of people's life will be protected from unacceptable levels of 
noise, light and air pollution by only permitting development where: 
 
Noise pollution: 

 It is designed, located and controlled to minimise the impact of noise on health 
and quality of life, neighbouring properties and the surrounding area; 

 If it is likely to generate significant levels of noise it incorporates appropriate noise 
attenuation measures; 

 
Noise sensitive development, such as residential, will not be permitted in close 
proximity to existing or proposed development generating high levels of noise unless 
adequate sound insulation measures, as supported by a noise assessment are 
incorporated within the development. 
 
In appropriate circumstances, the applicant will be required to provide: 

 an assessment of the impact of noise generated by a proposed development; or 

 an assessment of the effect of noise by an existing noise source upon a 
proposed development; 

 
Light pollution: 

 The impact on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature 
conservation areas of artificial lighting proposals (including floodlighting) is 
minimised, in terms of intensity and number of fittings; 

 The applicant can demonstrate good design including fittings to restrict emissions 
from proposed lighting schemes;' 

 
The nearest residential properties affected by the proposal would be opposite on 
Cyprus Road (13-25) to the south, with other properties on Cyprus Road to the 
south-west and east and Middle Way further north-east.  
 
It is not considered that the proposed building would result in an overbearing form of 
development or overlooking to neighbouring properties (other than a front-to-front 
relationship which would not be unusual in a built-up area).  As such, it is not 
considered that the proposal would result in a significantly harmful loss of amenity to 
surrounding residents in these respects. 
 
The application has been accompanied by a Baseline Noise Survey.  This has been 
conducted in order to inform the design of the building and to ensure compliance 
with the council's noise policy in respect of plant noise (fans, air conditioning, etc) 
and entertainment noise (Sussex Planning Noise Advice Document (March 2013)).  
This states at paragraph 3.2.3: 
 

 Where regular use of the proposed premises is planned, any amplified sound 
(including music and speech), should be inaudible within any nearby noise 
sensitive premises with or without one or more windows open. 

 Any other noise sources associated with the premises, such as patron noise, 
should also be inaudible inside residential properties. 

 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 22



 

The council's Environmental Protection Officer considers that this report sets out 
agreeable limits and consequently recommends several conditions, which would 
ensure compliance with the above policy. 
 
The application is also accompanied by a Ventilation and Extract Statement, which 
commits to providing suitable and adequate equipment.  It notes that the kitchen will 
only be used for reheating food and food preparation for service, so the risk of noise, 
odour and fumes will be low.  The WC extraction will be ducted to the system 
terminating at roof level, away from other inlets and windows.  The council's 
Environmental Protection Officer considers that suitable conditions can be applied to 
any permission. 
 
Other issues can also be controlled by condition, such as at the 
demolition/construction stages, and limiting hours of opening and deliveries. 
 
Accordingly, the scheme would comply with Policies DP26 and DP29 of the Mid 
Sussex District Plan. 
 
Highways matters 
 
Policy DP21 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
'… Decisions on development proposals will take account of whether: 
 

 The scheme is sustainably located to minimise the need for travel noting there 
might be circumstances where development needs to be located in the 
countryside, such as rural economic uses (see policy DP14: Sustainable Rural 
Development and the Rural Economy); 

 Appropriate opportunities to facilitate and promote the increased use of 
alternative means of transport to the private car, such as the provision of, and 
access to, safe and convenient routes for walking, cycling and public transport, 
including suitable facilities for secure and safe cycle parking, have been fully 
explored and taken up; 

 The scheme is designed to adoptable standards, or other standards as agreed by 
the Local Planning Authority, including road widths and size of garages; 

 The scheme provides adequate car parking for the proposed development taking 
into account the accessibility of the development, the type, mix and use of the 
development and the availability and opportunities for public transport; and with 
the relevant Neighbourhood Plan where applicable; 

 Development which generates significant amounts of movement is supported by 
a Transport Assessment/ Statement and a Travel Plan that is effective and 
demonstrably deliverable including setting out how schemes will be funded; 

 The scheme provides appropriate mitigation to support new development on the 
local and strategic road network, including the transport network outside of the 
district, secured where necessary through appropriate legal agreements; 

 The scheme avoids severe additional traffic congestion, individually or 
cumulatively, taking account of any proposed mitigation; 

 The scheme protects the safety of road users and pedestrians; and 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 23



 

 The scheme does not harm the special qualities of the South Downs National 
Park or the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty through its transport 
impacts. 

 
Where practical and viable, developments should be located and designed to 
incorporate facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans can set local standards for car parking provision provided that 
it is based upon evidence that provides clear and compelling justification for doing 
so.' 
 
The proposed development is sited in a highly sustainable location and users of the 
facility will be able to access it either in conjunction with other town centre uses or as 
a destination in its own right.  The site is located within walking distance of bus and 
train facilities and adjacent to a public car park.  New cycle parking facilities are 
provided. 
 
Following submission of a Transport Statement, the Highway Authority has raised no 
objection to the application in relation to the resultant car parking provision, access 
works, road network capacity and trip generation, and accessibility. 
 
The TS states that 9 spaces in the existing rear car park will be lost to accommodate 
the proposed new pedestrian link but will allow for 6 additional disabled spaces, all of 
which are within the red-lined site area.  Parking demand as set out in the WSCC 
guidance sees a maximum of 1 space per 15 sq m floor area, so a 1150 sq m D2 
building will create a demand for 77 spaces.  The car park to the rear can 
accommodate approximately 302 cars, so the Highway Authority considers that this 
additional demand can be accommodated. 
 
In terms of the access works, the Highway Authority does not consider that the 
removal of parking on the frontage of the site and in front of Cyprus Hall will pose a 
highway safety reason to resist the application.   
 
The Highway Authority has assessed the TS in relation to the capacity of the road 
network to accommodate this building and the associated trip generation.  The 
building would not be operational during morning peak hours and would instead be 
at peak generation between 1900-2000hrs and 2200-2300hrs.  As a worst-case 
scenario of 100% occupancy of the theatre and 100% arrivals by car, a total of 119 
vehicles could occur.  However, given the town centre (sustainable) location, if this is 
a 50% modal split for cars and 50% for other forms of transport, then this actual 
vehicle accumulation could be 60.  Accordingly, it is not considered that the proposal 
will result in a capacity issue on the local road network. 
 
The train station is a 5 minute walk from the site and the closest bus stop 150m 
away.  Although the latter services appear to run to 1930hrs only, this could form 
part of a journey and users or employees could also access the site by walking or 
cycling, particularly with the improved pedestrian access to the car park.  The 
proposed cycle parking provision is deemed sufficient and can be secured by 
condition. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 24



 

Accordingly, the above policy would be met. 
 
Drainage 
 
Policy DP41 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states: 
 
'Proposals for development will need to follow a sequential risk-based approach, 
ensure development is safe across its lifetime and not increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere. The District Council's Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) should 
be used to identify areas at present and future flood risk from a range of sources 
including fluvial (rivers and streams), surface water (pluvial), groundwater, 
infrastructure and reservoirs. 
 
Particular attention will be paid to those areas of the District that have experienced 
flooding in the past and proposals for development should seek to reduce the risk of 
flooding by achieving a reduction from existing run-off rates. 
 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should be implemented in all new 
developments of 10 dwellings or more, or equivalent non-residential or mixed 
development unless demonstrated to be inappropriate, to avoid any increase in flood 
risk and protect surface and ground water quality. Arrangements for the long term 
maintenance and management of SuDS should also be identified. 
 
For the redevelopment of brownfield sites, any surface water draining to the foul 
sewer must be disconnected and managed through SuDS following the remediation 
of any previously contaminated land. 
SuDS should be sensitively designed and located to promote improved biodiversity, 
an enhanced landscape and good quality spaces that improve public amenities in 
the area, where possible. 
 
The preferred hierarchy of managing surface water drainage from any development 
is: 
 
1. Infiltration Measures 
2. Attenuation and discharge to watercourses; and if these cannot be met, 
3. Discharge to surface water only sewers. 
 
Land that is considered to be required for current and future flood management will 
be safeguarded from development and proposals will have regard to relevant flood 
risk plans and strategies.' 
 
Both surface water and foul water will be drained into the sewer located in the MSDC 
car park.  Although the proposed site is located within Flood Zone 1, it is deemed to 
be at low fluvial flood risk.  As surface water is proposed to be attenuated, the 
council's Drainage Engineer considers that a suitable condition can be imposed on 
any planning permission, which would ensure compliance with the above policy. 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 25



 

Land contamination 
 
The NPPF Glossary defines Site Investigation Information as: 
 
'Includes a risk assessment of land potentially affected by contamination, or ground 
stability and slope stability reports, as appropriate. All investigations of land 
potentially affected by contamination should be carried out in accordance with 
established procedures (such as BS10175 (2001) Code of Practice for the 
Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites). The minimum information that 
should be provided by an applicant is the report of a desk study and site 
reconnaissance.' 
 
The application has been accompanied by a preliminary contamination risk 
assessment and site investigation report.  These documents have been reviewed by 
the council's Contaminated Land Officer, who confirmed that conditions are required 
to be imposed on any planning permission to ensure that the potable water supply 
does not become contaminated by known contaminants on site.  With these in place, 
the above NPPF requirements will be complied with. 
 
Sustainability 
 
Policy DP39 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states: 
 
'All development proposals must seek to improve the sustainability of development 
and should where appropriate and feasible according to the type and size of 
development and location, incorporate the following measures: 
 

 Minimise energy use through the design and layout of the scheme including 
through the use of natural lighting and ventilation; 

 Explore opportunities for efficient energy supply through the use of communal 
heating networks where viable and feasible; 

 Use renewable sources of energy; 

 Maximise efficient use of resources, including minimising waste and maximising 
recycling/re-use of materials through both construction and occupation; 

 Limit water use to 110 litres/person/day in accordance with Policy DP42: Water 
Infrastructure and the Water Environment; 

 Demonstrate how the risks associated with future climate change have been 
planned for as part of the layout of the scheme and design of its buildings to 
ensure its longer term resilience.' 

 
The sustainability measures to accompany the scheme are set out in the 
Sustainability and Energy Efficiency Statement, as follows: 
 

 Installation of 30 sq m of photovoltaic panels (PV) on the western side of the roof, 
which will contribute to the electrical energy demand of the building 

 Adopting passive measures such as improved material performance and building 
arrangement to reduce the energy demand of the building 

 Thermal envelope of the building to comply with Building Regulations, such that 
all building elements will be well insulated to reduce energy loss 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 26



 

 Thermal mass will assist in retaining heat during hot summer days and less 
cooling requirement, with stored energy released at night 

 Airtightness through construction ensuring fewer air leakage paths, fewer noise 
penetrations and significantly lower energy bills, thus reducing carbon dioxide 
emissions 

 High levels of natural daylighting, reducing the need for artificial lighting 

 Installation of a combined boiler and heat pump arrangement with use of 
radiators and heating controls 

 Natural ventilation systems for the whole building, except for kitchen and 
bathrooms, which will be mechanically ventilated 

 Cooling to some of the occupied spaces sourced from a heat pump 
 
These measures can be secured by condition to ensure compliance with Policies 
DP26 and DP39 of the Mid Sussex District Plan and paragraphs 153 and 154 of the 
NPPF. 
 
Biodiversity 
 
Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) lists species of 
animal (other than birds) which are provided special protection under the Act.  Under 
Section 13 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), all wild plants are 
protected from being uprooted without the consent of the landowner.  In addition to 
the protection afforded by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), 
certain species are also covered by European legislation.  These species are listed 
in Schedule 2 of the Conservation (Natural Habitats, 7c.) Regulations 1994 (as 
amended). 
 
Policy DP38 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states: 
 
'Biodiversity will be protected and enhanced by ensuring development: 
 

 Contributes and takes opportunities to improve, enhance, manage and restore 
biodiversity and green infrastructure, so that there is a net gain in biodiversity, 
including through creating new designated sites and locally relevant habitats, and 
incorporating biodiversity features within developments; and 

 Protects existing biodiversity, so that there is no net loss of biodiversity. 
Appropriate measures should be taken to avoid and reduce disturbance to 
sensitive habitats and species.  Unavoidable damage to biodiversity must be 
offset through ecological enhancements and mitigation measures (or 
compensation measures in exceptional circumstances); and 

 Minimises habitat and species fragmentation and maximises opportunities to 
enhance and restore ecological corridors to connect natural habitats and increase 
coherence and resilience; and 

 Promotes the restoration, management and expansion of priority habitats in the 
District; and 

 Avoids damage to, protects and enhances the special characteristics of 
internationally designated Special Protection Areas, Special Areas of 
Conservation; nationally designated Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty; and locally  designated Sites of Nature Conservation 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 27



 

Importance, Local Nature Reserves and Ancient  Woodland or to other areas 
identified as being of nature conservation or geological  interest, including wildlife 
corridors, aged or veteran trees, Biodiversity Opportunity Areas, and Nature 
Improvement Areas. 

 
Designated sites will be given protection and appropriate weight according to their 
importance and the contribution they make to wider ecological networks.  
 
Valued soils will be protected and enhanced, including the best and most versatile 
agricultural land, and development should not contribute to unacceptable levels of 
soil pollution.  
 
Geodiversity will be protected by ensuring development prevents harm to geological 
conservation interests, and where possible, enhances such interests. Geological 
conservation interests include Regionally Important Geological and 
Geomorphological Sites.' 
 
Chapter 15 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing sites of 
biodiversity value by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  
In particular, paragraph 175 states: 
 
'When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should apply the 
following principles: 
 

 if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should 
be refused; 

 development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and 
which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination 
with other developments), should not normally be permitted. The only exception 
is where the benefits of the development in the location proposed clearly 
outweigh both its likely impact on the features of the site that make it of special 
scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest; 

 development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such 
as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless 
there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy 
exists; and 

 development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity 
should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
improvements in and around developments should be encouraged, especially 
where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity.' 

 
A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment have 
been submitted as part of this application.  It identifies that the existing building has 
low potential to support roosting Bats, due to the presence of specific features such 
as broken, lifted and missing hanging tiles on the southern elevation.  Although no 
evidence of Bats of Bat activity was recorded, recommendations are nonetheless 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 28



 

made to undertake further surveys during the peak season for emergence/re-entry 
(i.e. May-August) to determine the presence/absence of roosting bats within the 
building. 
 
Further recommendations are made to ensure that vegetation and building clearance 
are undertaken outside the bird nesting season (which is generally March-
September) and to enhance the site for wildlife, including installation of Bat boxes in 
locations where they will receive full/partial sun and at least 4m above ground level. 
 
Comments are awaited from the council's Ecological consultant and will be reported 
to committee. 
 
Impact on Ashdown Forest 
 
Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
(the 'Habitats Regulations'), the competent authority - in this case, Mid Sussex 
District Council - has a duty to ensure that any plans or projects that they regulate 
(including plan making and determining planning applications) will have no adverse 
effect on the integrity of a European site of nature conservation importance. The 
European site of focus is the Ashdown Forest Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
 
The potential effects of development on Ashdown Forest were assessed during the 
Habitats Regulations Assessment process for the Mid Sussex District Plan. This 
process identified likely significant effects on the Ashdown Forest SPA from 
recreational disturbance and on the Ashdown Forest SAC from atmospheric 
pollution. 
 
A Habitats Regulations Assessment screening report has been undertaken for the 
proposed development. 
 
Recreational disturbance 
 
Increased recreational activity arising from new residential development and related 
population growth is likely to disturb the protected near-ground and ground nesting 
birds on Ashdown Forest. 
 
In accordance with advice from Natural England, the HRA for the Mid Sussex District 
Plan, and as detailed in the District Plan Policy DP17, mitigation measures are 
necessary to counteract the effects of a potential increase in recreational pressure 
and are required for developments resulting in a net increase in dwellings within a 
7km zone of influence around the Ashdown Forest SPA. A Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace (SANG) and Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
(SAMM) mitigation approach has been developed. This mitigation approach has 
been agreed with Natural England. 
 
This planning application does not result in a net increase in dwellings within the 7km 
zone of influence and so mitigation is not required. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 29



 

Atmospheric pollution 
 
Increased traffic emissions as a consequence of new development may result in 
additional atmospheric pollution on Ashdown Forest. The main pollutant effects of 
interest are acid deposition and eutrophication by nitrogen deposition. High levels of 
nitrogen may detrimentally affect the composition of an ecosystem and lead to loss 
of species. 
 
The potential effects of the proposed development are incorporated into the overall 
results of the transport model (Mid Sussex Transport Study (Updated Transport 
Analysis)), which indicates there would not be an overall impact on Ashdown Forest. 
This means that there is not considered to be a significant in combination effect on 
the Ashdown Forest SAC by this development proposal. 
 
Conclusion of the Habitats Regulations Assessment screening report 
 
The screening assessment concludes that there would be no likely significant 
effects, alone or in combination, on the Ashdown Forest SPA and SAC from the 
proposed development. 
 
No mitigation is required in relation to the Ashdown Forest SPA or SAC. 
 
A full HRA (that is, the appropriate assessment stage that ascertains the effect on 
integrity of the European site) of the proposed development is not required. 
 
Accessibility 
 
Policy DP28 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states (in part): 
 
'All development will be required to meet and maintain high standards of accessibility 
so that all users can use them safely and easily. 
 
This will apply to all development, including changes of use, refurbishments and 
extensions, open spaces, the public realm and transport infrastructure, and will be 
demonstrated by the applicant.' 
 
The MHLG PPG says in part: 
 
'What accessibility standards can local planning authorities require from new 
development? 
Where a local planning authority adopts a policy to provide enhanced accessibility or 
adaptability they should do so only by reference to Requirement M4(2) and/or M4(3) 
of the optional requirements in the Building Regulations and should not impose any 
additional information requirements (for instance provision of furnished layouts) or 
seek to determine compliance with these requirements, which is the role of the 
Building Control Body…' 
 
It is considered that the proposed building would provide a high standard of 
accessibility for the future users. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 30



 

Other matters 
 
All the other issues raised during the consultation period have been taken into 
account and these other issues are either considered not to warrant a refusal of 
permission, are items that could be dealt with effectively by planning conditions or 
other legislation or are not even material planning considerations. 
 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
Planning legislation requires the application to be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  It is therefore 
necessary for the planning application to be assessed against the policies in the 
Development Plan and then to take account of other material planning 
considerations including the NPPF. 
 
The need for this facility has been identified in the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan 
and detailed in the submitted Statement of Community Involvement, which notes that 
the proposed scheme has been led by a steering group consisting of 50% local 
councillors and 50% representatives of local user groups.  The venue will be named 
'The Beehive Centre' if planning permission is granted. 
 
It is considered that the principle of this development is acceptable in accordance 
with development plan policies.  As the council's Leisure team has stated, "It will be 
a welcome addition to leisure and amenity facilities in the town."  The design of the 
building is bold and striking, but its increased scale can be justified on the grounds of 
the public benefits of the scheme and the usage itself enlivening and optimising this 
town centre location.  It will unquestionably contribute to the cultural quarter of 
Burgess Hill. 
 
Objections from neighbouring residents are acknowledged in what is also a 
residential street.  Whilst the building will not result in an overbearing form of 
development or significantly harmful overlooking to neighbouring occupiers, given 
the distance and front-to-front or front-to-side relationships, noise and lighting 
impacts will occur.  However, the scheme has been accompanied by specialist 
reports that identify how these impacts can be mitigated and accordingly conditions 
are recommended. 
 
The increased patronage of the building on this site by users and staff will not have 
an adverse impact on the local road network and nor on the adjoining council-owned 
car park, and hence there are no transport grounds on which to resist this proposal. 
 
Other matters such as drainage, land contamination, sustainability and biodiversity 
can be conditioned as part of any planning permission. 
 
There will be no likely significant effect on the Ashdown Forest SPA and SAC. 
 
For the above reasons, the proposal is deemed to comply with Policies DP2, DP7, 
DP17, DP21, DP24, DP26, DP28, DP29, DP38, DP39 and DP41 of the Mid Sussex 
District Plan, Policies TC1, TC6 and S3 of the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan and 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 31



 

the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.  Planning permission 
should therefore be granted. 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A – RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 
  
 
 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 

from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. Approved Plans 
  
 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 

listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this 
Application". 

  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 
 
 3. Pre-commencement conditions 
  
 No development shall be carried out until a schedule and/or samples of materials 

and finishes to be used for the external walls, fenestration and roofs of the 
proposed buildings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail 

in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a development of visual 
quality and to accord with Policy DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 

 
 4. No development shall commence until a 1:20 scale section and elevational vignette 

of the glazed part of the Cyprus Road frontage has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure these aspects of the development are compatible with the 

design of the building and the character of the area and to accord with Policy DP26 
of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 

 
 5. The development hereby permitted shall not commence unless and until details of 

the proposed foul and surface water drainage and means of disposal have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No building 
shall be occupied until all the approved drainage works have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  The details shall include a timetable for its 
implementation and a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 
development which shall include arrangements for adoption by any public authority 
or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the 
scheme throughout its lifetime.  Maintenance and management during the lifetime 
of the development should be in accordance with the approved details. 

  

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 32



 

 Reason: To ensure that the proposal is satisfactorily drained and to accord with the 
NPPF requirements and Policy DP41 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 

 
 6. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the approved Construction Management 
Plan shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the entire construction 
period.  The Construction Management Plan shall provide details as appropriate but 
not necessarily be restricted to the following matters: 

  

 the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during 
construction; 

 the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction; 

 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors; 

 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste; 

 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development; 

 the erection and maintenance of security hoardings; 

 the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the 
impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of 
temporary Traffic Regulation Orders); 

 details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works. 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area and to 

comply with Policies DP21 and DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
 7. Demolition / construction work shall not commence until a scheme of measures for 

the control of dust during the demolition and construction phase has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme as 
approved shall be operated at all times during the demolition / construction phases 
of the development. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of surrounding residents and to accord with 

Policies DP26 and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
 8. No development shall take place until a detailed scheme for protecting nearby 

residential units from noise generated by entertainment and related activities within 
the building, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. All works that form part of the scheme shall be completed before the use 
hereby permitted is carried on. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the submitted 
scheme shall be in accordance with the Baseline Noise Survey (ref 265363-00/R01) 
submitted by Arup as part of the application, specifically section 5 Proposed noise 
emission limits. Details of post installation acoustic testing shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  If the scheme relies on closed 
windows to meet the required noise emission limits then it shall also incorporate 
suitable ventilation measures. 

  
 Reason:  To safeguard the amenity of adjacent occupiers and to accord with 

Policies DP26 and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
 9. Construction phase 
  
 Works of construction or demolition, including the use of plant and machinery as 

well as deliveries and collections, necessary for implementation of this consent shall 
be limited to the following times: 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 33



 

  
             Monday - Friday 08:00 - 18:00 Hours 
             Saturday  09:00 - 13:00 Hours 
             Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays no work permitted 
  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residents and to accord with Policies 

DP26 and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
10. Pre-occupation conditions 
  
 Prior to the commencement of construction of any building subject of this 

permission, including construction of foundations, full details of a hard and soft 
landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These details shall include indications of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land, and details of those to be retained, together with measures 
for their protection in the course of development.  These works shall be carried out 
as approved.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with the programme agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years from the 
completion of development, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and of the environment of the 

development and to accord with Policies DP26 and DP37 of the Mid Sussex District 
Plan. 

 
11. The development hereby permitted shall not be provide hot food for public 

consumption until a scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission 
of fumes and odour from the premises has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the scheme as approved has been 
implemented. The submitted odour control scheme shall be in accordance with the 
submitted Greenways Ventilation and Extract Statement and with industry best 
practice e.g. the principles of the DEFRA Guidance on the Control of Odour and 
Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust Systems and shall include a Risk 
Assessment for Odour e.g. Annex C of the DEFRA guidance as well as a 
maintenance and monitoring schedule for the odour control system, to ensure 
adequate control of odours, to align with the manufacturer's instructions. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjacent occupiers and to accord with 

Policies DP26 and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
12. No part of the development shall be first occupied until such time as a Travel Plan 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The Travel Plan Statement shall be completed in accordance with the 
latest guidance and good practice documentation as published by the Department 
for Transport or as advised by the Highway Authority. 

  
 Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport and to comply with Policy 

DP21 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
13. No part of the development shall be first occupied until covered and secure cycle 

parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details to be 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 34



 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These 
facilities shall thereafter be retained for their designated use. 

  
 Reason: To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance 

with current sustainable transport policies and to comply with Policy DP21 of the 
Mid Sussex District Plan. 

 
14. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Sustainability and 

Energy Efficiency Statement submitted as part of the application.  On completion of 
the development, an independent final report shall be prepared and submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the proposals in the Statement 
have been implemented. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that measures to make the development sustainable and 

efficient in the use of energy, water and materials are included in the development, 
in accordance with the NPPF requirements, Policies DP26 and DP39 of the Mid 
Sussex District Plan. 

 
15. Prior to the site coming into operation, a verification report shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing, by the local planning authority, demonstrating that suitable 
barrier piping has been used for the potable water supply which ensures it cannot 
be permeated by known contaminates within the ground on site. This shall include 
photos of the pipes being laid and an agreement with the water supply company 
that the barrier piping used is suitable for the site.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the risks from land contamination to the future users of the 

land are minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors and to 
comply with the NPPF requirements and Policy DP41 of the Mid Sussex District 
Plan. 

 
16. Prior to occupation of the development, should further soils contamination be 

discovered on site during the development, the remediation measures shall be 
implemented strictly in accordance with the approved remediation options appraisal 
and method statement, and a written report detailing the remediation shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Should no further 
contaminants be discovered, confirmation of this shall be provided by the developer 
to the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors and to accord with the NPPF requirements and Policy DP41 of the 
Mid Sussex District Plan. 

 
17. Post-occupation monitoring / management conditions 
  
 No deliveries or collections of commercial goods or waste shall take place outside 

the following hours: 
 Mon to Fri 07:00 to 19:00 hours 
 Sat 08:00 to 13:00 hours 
 Sun and Public Holidays 09:00 to 13:00 hours 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 35



 

 Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents and to accord with Policies DP26 
and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 

 
18. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the building shall not be open to the public 

outside the following hours: 
 09:00 hours to 23:00 hours on any day, with the exception of a maximum of six 

days per calendar year when they may be used by the public until 00:00 hours. 
These exceptional dates shall be recorded and made available to the Local 
Planning Authority upon request. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents and to accord with Policies DP26 

and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
19. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the noise rating level of any operational plant or 

machinery (eg extract or intake fans, condenser units etc) shall comply with the 
Baseline Noise Survey (ref 265363-00/R01) submitted by Arup as part of the 
application, specifically section 5 Proposed noise emission limits. Details of post 
installation acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority upon request.   

 All measurements shall be defined and derived in accordance with BS 
4142:2014+A1:2019.  Details of post installation acoustic testing shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority upon request.   

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents and to accord with Policies DP26 

and DP29 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
20. The refuse/recycling storage area shall be implemented in accordance with the 

approved plans and made available for use prior to the first occupation of the 
building at all times thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area, to comply with Policy DP26 of 

the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 
21. The recommendations set out in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and 

Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment 
 shall be implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that the proposals avoid adverse impacts on protected and 

priority species and contribute to a net gain in biodiversity, in accordance with the 
NPPF requirements, Policy DP38 of the Mid Sussex District Plan and Policy G3 of 
the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
 1. In accordance with Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local 
Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as 
originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable 
amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the 
Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an 
acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 36



 

sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 2. You are advised that this planning permission requires compliance with a 

planning condition(s) before development commences.  You are therefore 
advised to contact the case officer as soon as possible, or you can obtain 
further information from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/use-of-planning-
conditions#discharging-and-modifying-conditions (Fee of £116 will be payable 
per request).  If you carry out works prior to a  pre-development condition 
being discharged then a lawful start will not have been made and you will be 
liable to enforcement action. 

 
 3. The applicant is required to obtain all appropriate consents from West Sussex 

County Council, as Highway Authority, to cover the off-site highway works. 
The applicant is requested to contact The Implementation Team Leader 
(01243 642105) to commence this process. The applicant is advised that it is 
an offence to undertake any works within the highway prior to the agreement 
being in place. 

 
 4. No burning of demolition/construction waste materials shall take place on site. 
 
 5. The proposed development will require formal address allocation.  You are 

advised to contact the Council's Street Naming and Numbering Officer before 
work starts on site.  Details of fees and developers advice can be found at 
www.midsussex.gov.uk/streetnaming or by phone on 01444 477175. 

 
 
 

Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application 
The following plans and documents were considered when making the above decision: 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Submitted Date 
Location Plan 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-

A-0001 
- 05.08.2019 

Block Plan 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-
A-0002 

P2 05.08.2019 

Transport Assessment/Travel Plan 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-
A-0003 

- 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-
A-0502 

P3 05.08.2019 

Existing Site Plan 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-
A-2900 

- 05.08.2019 

Existing Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-
A-2902 

P3 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-01-DR-
A-0503 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-01-DR-
A-2903 

- 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-02-DR-
A-0504 

P3 05.08.2019 

Existing Roof Plan 170289-AED-BH-02-DR-
A-2904 

- 05.08.2019 

Proposed Roof Plan 170289-AED-BH-03-DR-
A-0505 

P2 05.08.2019 

    

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 37



 

Levels 170289-AED-BH-B1-DR-
A-0004 

- 05.08.2019 

Levels 170289-AED-BH-B1-DR-
A-0501 

P2 05.08.2019 

Levels 170289-AED-BH-B1-DR-
A-2901 

- 05.08.2019 

Proposed Sections 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-0601 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-0701 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-0702 

P4 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-0703 

P1 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-0704 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Sections 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-0705 

P1 05.08.2019 

Existing Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-2911 

- 05.08.2019 

Existing Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-2912 

- 05.08.2019 

Existing Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-2913 

- 05.08.2019 

Existing Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-2914 

- 05.08.2019 

Existing Sections 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-
A-2915 

- 05.08.2019 

Drainage Details SK1 - 05.08.2019 
Drainage Details SK2 - 05.08.2019 
General 170289_AED_BH_B1_D

R_A_0006 
Existing 13.09.2019 

General 170289_AED_BH_B1_D
R_A_0007 

Proposed 13.09.2019 

General 170289_AED_BH_B1_D
R_A_0008 

Proposed 13.09.2019 

Other 170289_AED_BH_00_D
R_A_0010 

 11.11.2019 

 
 
 

APPENDIX B – CONSULTATIONS 
 
 
Parish Consultation 
OBSERVATIONS: Recommend Approval 
 
Contaminated Land 
Main Comments 
 
I have received the application details including the preliminary contamination risk 
assessment and site investigation by  Paddock Geo Engineering. 
 
Elevated PAH indicative compound and asbestos levels were identified within the shallow 
Made Ground from beneath the current building footprint, when compared to the 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 38



 

conservative Residential with productive planting land use scenario that the consultant 
adopted. 
 
The community centre proposals do not include any areas of open space and therefore the 
identified non volatile contaminants only pathway to the end site user will be via the potable 
water supply. The report states that regular PE potable water supply pipes are not deemed 
suitable for buried potable water supply pipework on the site. As such barrier piping is 
required and it is recommended that this be validated before the site comes into use. 
 
An initial ground gas risk assessment was also carried out and this did not indicate any 
significant ground gas concentrations, which allowed a low 'Characteristic Situation 1' to be 
assigned for the site.  A 'Characteristic Situation 1' assignment does not require any ground 
gas protection measures.   
 
Along with validation of the potable water supply, a discovery condition should also be put in 
place so that the construction works stop if any further contamination is found on site. Works 
can only re-start once the matter has been investigated, and a remediation plan, agreed with 
planning authority, put in place if required.  
 
 
Recommendation  
 
Approve with the following conditions 
 
1. Prior to the site coming into operation, a verification report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing, by the local planning authority, demonstrating that suitable barrier piping 
has been used for the potable water supply which ensures it cannot be permeated by known 
contaminates within the ground on site. This shall include photos of the pipes being laid and 
an agreement with the water supply company that the barrier piping used is suitable for the 
site.  
 
 
2. Development shall cease on site if, during any stage of the works, potential 
contamination is encountered which has not been previously identified, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Works shall not recommence before an 
assessment of the potential contamination has been undertaken and details of the findings 
along with details of any remedial action required (including timing provision for 
implementation), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall not be completed other than in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Environmental Protection 
The proposed development will include a 237 seat theatre space, dance studio, large 
meeting room and café/bar. It is located in a mixed residential/commercial area at the edge 
of the town centre, near to a council car park. 
 
There is potential for noise disturbance to nearby residents from the following sources: 
 
Plant noise - air conditioning/ventilation, kitchen extract, refrigeration etc. This can be 
controlled by condition. 
Performance - Live shows and the dance studio will have amplification equipment. Noise can 
be contained within the fabric of the building if well designed. Some form of cooling or 
ventilation will be required to avoid noise breakout through open windows, particularly during 
warmer Summer months. This can be controlled by condition. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 39



 

Patrons - Noise from patrons gathering outside the venue eg arriving, smoking, socialising, 
waiting for taxis/lifts etc is difficult to control. However the location is the town centre and the 
site was previously occupied by the British Legion club, so similar issues would have 
existed, but with fewer people. It is recommended that hours of use be controlled to reduce 
the impact. 
 
An initial noise report has been submitted, and this has recommended specific noise limits 
for plant noise (fans, air conditioning etc) and for entertainment noise. These limits are 
agreeable and conditions are recommended to reflect this. 
 
 
Therefore, should the development receive approval, Environmental Protection recommends 
the following conditions: 
 
Conditions: 
 

 Construction hours: Works of construction or demolition, including the use of plant and 
machinery as well as deliveries and collections, necessary for implementation of this 
consent shall be limited to the following times: 

 
            Monday - Friday 08:00 - 18:00 Hours 
            Saturday    09:00 - 13:00 Hours 
            Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays no work permitted 
 
      Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents. 
 
 

 Dust: Demolition/Construction work shall not commence until a scheme of measures for 
the control of dust during the demolition and construction phase has been submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority. The scheme as approved shall be 
operated at all times during the construction phases of the development.  

 
     Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents from dust emissions during construction. 
 

 Smoke: No burning of demolition/construction waste materials shall take place on site.  
 
      Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents from smoke, ash, odour and fume. 
 
Soundproofing (Entertainment Noise): No development shall take place until a detailed 
scheme for protecting nearby residential units from noise generated by entertainment and 
related activities within the building, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. All works that form part of the scheme shall be completed before the 
use hereby permitted is carried on. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the submitted 
scheme shall be in accordance with the Baseline Noise Survey (ref 265363-00/R01) 
submitted by Arup as part of the application, specifically section 5 Proposed noise emission 
limits. Details of post installation acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  If the scheme relies on closed windows to meet the 
required noise emission limits then it shall also incorporate suitable ventilation measures. 
 
Plant & Machinery: Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the noise rating level of any 
operational plant or machinery (eg extract or intake fans, condenser units etc) shall comply 
with the Baseline Noise Survey (ref 265363-00/R01) submitted by Arup as part of the 
application, specifically section 5 Proposed noise emission limits. Details of post installation 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 40



 

acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
upon request.   
 
All measurements shall be defined and derived in accordance with BS 4142:2014+A1:2019.  
Details of post installation acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority upon request.   
 
Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents. 
 
Opening Hours: Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the building shall not be open to the 
public outside the following hours: 
 
09:00 hours to 23:00 hours on any day, with the exception of a maximum of six days per 
calendar year when they may be used by the public until 00:00 hours. These exceptional 
dates shall be recorded and made available to the LPA upon request. 
 
Deliveries and collections (operational): No deliveries or collections of commercial goods or 
waste outside the following hours: 
 
       Mon to Fri 07:00 to 19:00 hours 
       Sat           08:00 to 13:00 hours 
       Sun and Public Holidays 09:00 to 13:00 hours 
 
Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents.  
 
Odour: The development hereby permitted shall not be provide hot food for public 
consumption until a scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission of fumes 
and odour from the premises has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the scheme as approved has been implemented. The submitted 
odour control scheme shall be in accordance with the submitted Greenways Ventilation and 
Extract Statement and with industry best practice eg the principles of the DEFRA Guidance 
on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust Systems and shall 
include a Risk Assessment for Odour eg Annex C of the DEFRA guidance as well as a 
maintenance and monitoring schedule for the odour control system, to ensure adequate 
control of odours, to align with the manufacturer's instructions. 
 
Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents. 
 
6.9.19 
 
Nick Bennett, SEHO 
Environmental Protection  
 
Architect / Urban Designer - Will Dorman 
Summary and Overall Assessment 
 
The proposal is welcomed as it is not only a superior building than the one it replaces, but it 
also introduces a new use that should animate this town centre street especially with its 
open glazed façade that reveals the front foyer bar/cafe. While the building is significantly 
larger than the one it replaces (and in relation to its immediate neighbours) it is nevertheless 
similar to the existing nearby Orion Cinema; the additional scale can also be justified by its 
public use and its optimisation of a central location.  
 
Although the asymmetric multi-layered form of the frontage is a little busy, overall this is an 
exciting contemporary building that will have a positive impact upon the townscape with care 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 41



 

being taken to add visual interest to the other highly visible facades, and in the re-
landscaping of the pedestrian link to the Cyprus Road car park. 
 
I therefore raise no objections to this proposal, but as well as conditions covering facing 
materials and landscaping, I would also recommend the submission of 1:20 scale section 
and elevational vignette of the glazed part of the Cyprus Road frontage, and a condition 
requiring the design and configuration of the top floor windows and signage on the west 
elevation to be subject to further approval. 
 
Front / Cyprus Road Elevation  
 
The frontage will stand-out in Cyprus Road, not just because it is a significantly bigger 
building than its neighbours, but also as a result of its asymmetrical shape which is in 
marked contrast with the more modest symmetrical frontages that characterise the other 
buildings in the road. Its projection beyond the established building line will also contribute to 
its prominence.  
 
The façade is composed of a number of different overlaid elements and materials; although 
this presents a striking frontage it also risks looking busy. The mono-pitched entrance bay 
with its clay-tiled roof contrasts a little oddly with the otherwise contemporary language of the 
building, although it does echo the roof material of surrounding buildings.  
 
Side Elevations 
 
The flank elevations, particularly the west elevation facing the town centre will be clearly 
visible above the roof tops of the adjacent buildings along Cyprus Road, while the east 
elevation is important as it provides the backdrop for the pedestrian link from the car park. 
Both have been improved since the pre-application stage.   
 
The vertical cladding and timber slats add visual interest, successfully screening unsightly 
roof structures and should work well with a neutral toned red brick facade. The brick face 
now incorporate surface modelling characterised by vertical patterning that appropriately 
echo the form of the timber slats and cladding. 
 
The west elevation is further animated by internally-lit signage set against a striking glazed 
brick face; however the composition is unfortunately undermined by the inconsistent and 
mundane window arrangement that flank the signage.       
 
The east elevation now benefits from additional windows that serve to articulate and provide 
natural surveillance over the pedestrian link from the car park. 
 
Rear / North Elevation 
 
The rear elevation is highly visible from the car park where many of the visitors will arrive. 
Although it incorporates the back stage doors, the elevation has been animated in a similar 
manner to the flanks. Additional elevational interest is provided by making a feature of the 
stairwell through the vertically organised signage and glazing that is again framed by the 
glazed bricks. The shape of the mono-pitched roof that rises towards the stairwell is 
appropriately echoed by the timber slatted screen above and the graduated surface 
modelling of the brickwork. 
 
Layout 
 
The side entrance arrangement is convenient for the Cyprus Road car park that is connected 
by the side alley but unfortunately denies an entrance that directly fronts Cyprus Road.  

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 42



 

 
The side alley link to the car park is proposed to be comprehensively re-landscaped; the 
currently fragmented arrangement is being lost in favour of a layout that utilises the full width 
of the gap between the two adjacent buildings. The link will also benefit from the backdrop of 
the new building that will provide some natural surveillance of the space. 
  
The interior of the building is well organised and the theatre itself is given additional warmth 
by the brick faced walls. The re-landscaping of the north and south thresholds should also 
contribute positively to this proposal. 
 
MSDC Contaminated Land Officer 
 
Main Comments: 
 
I have reviewed the application details, including the preliminary contamination risk 
assessment and site investigation by Paddock Geo Engineering.  
 
Elevated PAH indicative compound and asbestos levels were identified within the shallow 
Made Ground from beneath the current building footprint, when compared to the 
conservative Residential with productive planting land use scenario that the consultant 
adopted.  The community centre proposals do not include any areas of open space and 
therefore the identified nonvolatile contaminant's only pathway to the end site user will be via 
the potable water supply. The report states that regular PE potable water supply pipes are 
not deemed suitable for buried potable water supply pipework on the site. As such barrier 
piping is required and it is recommended that this be validated before the site comes into 
use. 
 
An initial ground gas risk assessment was also carried out and this did not indicate any 
significant ground gas concentrations, which allowed a low "Characteristic Situation 1" to be 
assigned for the site. A "Characteristic Situation 1" assignment does not require any ground 
gas protection measures.  
 
Along with validation of the potable water supply, a discovery condition should also be put in 
place so that the construction works stop if any further contamination is found on site. Works 
can only re-start once the matter has been investigated, and a remediation plan, agreed with 
planning authority, put in place if required. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Approve with the following conditions: 
 
1. Prior to the site coming into operation, a verification report shall be submitted to and 
 approved in writing, by the local planning authority, demonstrating that suitable barrier 
 piping has been used for the potable water supply which ensures it cannot be 
 permeated by known contaminates within the ground on site. This shall include photos 
 of the pipes being laid and an agreement with the water supply company that the 
 barrier piping used is suitable for the site.  
 
2. Development shall cease on site if, during any stage of the works, potential 
 contamination is encountered which has not been previously identified, unless 
 otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Works shall not 
 recommence before an assessment of the potential contamination has been 
 undertaken and details of the findings along with details of any remedial action 
 required (including timing provision for implementation), has been submitted to and 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 43



 

 approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not be 
 completed other than in accordance with the approved details. 
 
MSDC Drainage Engineer 
 
SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE PROPOSAL 
 
It is proposed that the development will attenuate surface water with controlled discharge to 
existing public surface water sewer located in MSDC car park. 
 
FOUL WATER DRAINAGE PROPOSAL 
 
It is proposed that the development will drain to existing public sewer located in MSDC car 
park 
 
FLOOD RISK  
 
The proposed development is within flood zone 1 and is deemed to be at low fluvial flood 
risk. The proposed development is not within an area identified as having possible surface 
water (pluvial) flood risk. There are not any historic records of flooding occurring on this site 
and in this area. This does not mean that flooding has never occurred here, instead, that 
flooding has just never been reported. 
 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE TEAM CONSULTATION  
 
The proposed drainage plan shows discharge of foul water and surface water to the public 
foul and surface water sewers located in MSDC land.  Surface water is proposed to be 
attenuated. 
 
Further information into our requirements for foul and surface water drainage are included 
within the 'further advice' section.  
 
SUGGESTED CONDITIONS 
 
C18F 
The development hereby permitted shall not commence unless and until details of the 
proposed foul and surface water drainage and means of disposal have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. No building shall be occupied until all 
the approved drainage works have been carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
The details shall include a timetable for its implementation and a management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include arrangements for 
adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to 
secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. Maintenance and management 
during the lifetime of the development should be in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposal is satisfactorily drained and to accord with the NPPF 
requirements, Policy CS13 of the Mid Sussex Local Plan, Policy DP41 of the Pre-
Submission District Plan (2014 - 2031) and Policy …'z'… of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
MSDC Environmental Protection Officer 
 
The proposed development will include a 237 seat theatre space, dance studio, large 
meeting room and café/bar. It is located in a mixed residential/commercial area at the edge 
of the town centre, near to a council car park. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 44



 

There is potential for noise disturbance to nearby residents from the following sources: 
 
Plant noise - air conditioning/ventilation, kitchen extract, refrigeration etc. This can be 
controlled by condition. 
Performance - Live shows and the dance studio will have amplification equipment. Noise can 
be contained within the fabric of the building if well designed. Some form of cooling or 
ventilation will be required to avoid noise breakout through open windows, particularly during 
warmer Summer months. This can be controlled by condition. 
Patrons - Noise from patrons gathering outside the venue eg arriving, smoking, socialising, 
waiting for taxis/lifts etc is difficult to control. However the location is the town centre and the 
site was previously occupied by the British Legion club, so similar issues would have 
existed, but with fewer people. It is recommended that hours of use be controlled to reduce 
the impact. 
 
An initial noise report has been submitted, and this has recommended specific noise limits 
for plant noise (fans, air conditioning etc) and for entertainment noise. These limits are 
agreeable and conditions are recommended to reflect this. 
 
Therefore, should the development receive approval, Environmental Protection recommends 
the following conditions: 
 
Conditions: 
 

 Construction hours: Works of construction or demolition, including the use of plant and 
machinery as well as deliveries and collections, necessary for implementation of this 
consent shall be limited to the following times: 

 
            Monday – Friday 08:00 - 18:00 Hours 
            Saturday     09:00 - 13:00 Hours 
            Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays no work permitted 
 
      Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents. 
 

 Dust: Demolition/Construction work shall not commence until a scheme of measures for 
the control of dust during the demolition and construction phase has been submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority. The scheme as approved shall be 
operated at all times during the construction phases of the development.  

 
     Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents from dust emissions during construction. 
 

 Smoke: No burning of demolition/construction waste materials shall take place on site.  
 
      Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents from smoke, ash, odour and fume. 
 
Soundproofing (Entertainment Noise): No development shall take place until a detailed 
scheme for protecting nearby residential units from noise generated by entertainment and 
related activities within the building, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. All works that form part of the scheme shall be completed before the 
use hereby permitted is carried on. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the submitted 
scheme shall be in accordance with the Baseline Noise Survey (ref 265363-00/R01) 
submitted by Arup as part of the application, specifically section 5 Proposed noise emission 
limits. Details of post installation acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  If the scheme relies on closed windows to meet the 
required noise emission limits then it shall also incorporate suitable ventilation measures. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 45



 

 
Plant & Machinery: Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the noise rating level of any 
operational plant or machinery (eg extract or intake fans, condenser units etc) shall comply 
with the Baseline Noise Survey (ref 265363-00/R01) submitted by Arup as part of the 
application, specifically section 5 Proposed noise emission limits. Details of post installation 
acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
upon request.   
All measurements shall be defined and derived in accordance with BS 4142:2014+A1:2019.  
Details of post installation acoustic testing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority upon request.   
 
Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents. 
 
Opening Hours: Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the building shall not be open to the 
public outside the following hours: 
 
09:00 hours to 23:00 hours on any day, with the exception of a maximum of six days per 
calendar year when they may be used by the public until 00:00 hours. These exceptional 
dates shall be recorded and made available to the LPA upon request. 
 
Deliveries and collections (operational): No deliveries or collections of commercial goods or 
waste outside the following hours: 
 
     Mon to Fri 07:00 to 19:00 hours 
     Sat            08:00 to 13:00 hours 
     Sun and Public Holidays 09:00 to 13:00 hours 
 
Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents.  
 
Odour: The development hereby permitted shall not be provide hot food for public 
consumption until a scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission of fumes 
and odour from the premises has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the scheme as approved has been implemented. The submitted 
odour control scheme shall be in accordance with the submitted Greenways Ventilation and 
Extract Statement and with industry best practice eg the principles of the DEFRA Guidance 
on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust Systems and shall 
include a Risk Assessment for Odour eg Annex C of the DEFRA guidance as well as a 
maintenance and monitoring schedule for the odour control system, to ensure adequate 
control of odours, to align with the manufacturer's instructions. 
 
Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents. 
 
MSDC Leisure Officer 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the demolition of the existing Royal British 
Legion Club and erection of a new entertainment and community venue at 30 Cyprus Road, 
Burgess Hill on behalf of the Head of Corporate Resources.   The need for this facility has 
been identified in the Burgess Hill neighbourhood plan and it will be a welcome addition to 
leisure and amenity facilities in the town. 
 
MSDC Parking Services 
 
In regard to this planning application, I can confirm that the Cyprus Road car park is located 
adjacent to the development and should be well placed to provide parking capacity for the 
evening activities suggested. It should be noted that capacity for daytime performances may 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 46



 

well be compromised by the existing demand for the car park but I note the intention to 
support modal shift to mitigate pressures.  
 
These comments are made based on current activity in the car park and it is noted that 
future town centre developments may impact the future availability of car parking in the 
future.  
 
It is noted that the application includes the release of 9 spaces within the Cyprus Road car 
park along with amendments to the operation of the car park which have not been discussed 
or agreed by the MSDC. 
 
MSDC Street Naming and Numbering Officer 
 
Please can you ensure that the street naming and numbering informative is added to any 
decision notice granting approval in respect of the planning applications listed below as 
these applications will require address allocation if approved.  Thank you. 
 
Informative (Info29) 
 
The proposed development will require formal address allocation. You are advised to contact 
the Council's Street Naming and Numbering Officer before work starts on site. Details of 
fees and advice for developers can be found at www.midsussex.gov.uk/streetnaming or by 
phone on 01444 477175. 
 
Planning applications requiring SNN informative 
 
DM/19/3028 
DM/19/2764 
DM/19/2777 
DM/19/2942 
DM/19/2129 
DM/19/2900 
DM/19/3121 
DM/19/2990 
DM/19/3085 
DM/19/2961 
DM/19/3138 
DM/19/3144 
DM/19/2938 
DM/19/3170 
 
MSDC Urban Designer 
 
Summary and Overall Assessment 
 
The proposal is welcomed as it is not only a superior building than the one it replaces, but it 
also introduces a new use that should animate this town centre street especially with its 
open glazed façade that reveals the front foyer bar/cafe. While the building is significantly 
larger than the one it replaces (and in relation to its immediate neighbours) it is nevertheless 
similar to the existing nearby Orion Cinema; the additional scale can also be justified by its 
public use and its optimisation of a central location.  
 
Although the asymmetric multi-layered form of the frontage is a little busy, overall this is an 
exciting contemporary building that will have a positive impact upon the townscape with care 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 47



 

being taken to add visual interest to the other highly visible facades, and in the re-
landscaping of the pedestrian link to the Cyprus Road car park. 
 
I therefore raise no objections to this proposal, but as well as conditions covering facing 
materials and landscaping, I would also recommend the submission of 1:20 scale section 
and elevational vignette of the glazed part of the Cyprus Road frontage, and a condition 
requiring the design and configuration of the top floor windows and signage on the west 
elevation to be subject to further approval. 
 
Front / Cyprus Road Elevation  
 
The frontage will stand-out in Cyprus Road, not just because it is a significantly bigger 
building than its neighbours, but also as a result of its asymmetrical shape which is in 
marked contrast with the more modest symmetrical frontages that characterise the other 
buildings in the road. Its projection beyond the established building line will also contribute to 
its prominence.  
 
The façade is composed of a number of different overlaid elements and materials; although 
this presents a striking frontage it also risks looking busy. The mono-pitched entrance bay 
with its clay-tiled roof contrasts a little oddly with the otherwise contemporary language of the 
building, although it does echo the roof material of surrounding buildings.  
 
Side Elevations 
 
The flank elevations, particularly the west elevation facing the town centre will be clearly 
visible above the roof tops of the adjacent buildings along Cyprus Road, while the east 
elevation is important as it provides the backdrop for the pedestrian link from the car park. 
Both have been improved since the pre-application stage.   
 
The vertical cladding and timber slats add visual interest, successfully screening unsightly 
roof structures and should work well with a neutral toned red brick facade. The brick face 
now incorporate surface modelling characterised by vertical patterning that appropriately 
echo the form of the timber slats and cladding. 
 
The west elevation is further animated by internally-lit signage set against a striking glazed 
brick face; however the composition is unfortunately undermined by the inconsistent and 
mundane window arrangement that flank the signage.       
 
The east elevation now benefits from additional windows that serve to articulate and provide 
natural surveillance over the pedestrian link from the car park. 
 
Rear / North Elevation 
 
The rear elevation is highly visible from the car park where many of the visitors will arrive. 
Although it incorporates the back stage doors, the elevation has been animated in a similar 
manner to the flanks. Additional elevational interest is provided by making a feature of the 
stairwell through the vertically organised signage and glazing that is again framed by the 
glazed bricks. The shape of the mono-pitched roof that rises towards the stairwell is 
appropriately echoed by the timber slatted screen above and the graduated surface 
modelling of the brickwork. 
 
Layout 
 
The side entrance arrangement is convenient for the Cyprus Road car park that is connected 
by the side alley but unfortunately denies an entrance that directly fronts Cyprus Road.  

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 48



 

 
The side alley link to the car park is proposed to be comprehensively re-landscaped; the 
currently fragmented arrangement is being lost in favour of a layout that utilises the full width 
of the gap between the two adjacent buildings. The link will also benefit from the backdrop of 
the new building that will provide some natural surveillance of the space. 
  
The interior of the building is well organised and the theatre itself is given additional warmth 
by the brick faced walls. The re-landscaping of the north and south thresholds should also 
contribute positively to this proposal. 
 
WSCC Drainage Strategy Team 
 
West Sussex County Council (WSCC), in its capacity as the Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA), has been consulted on the above proposed development in respect of surface water 
drainage. 
 
The following is the comments of the LLFA relating to surface water drainage and flood risk 
for the proposed development and any associated observations, recommendations and 
advice. 
 
Flood Risk Summary 
 
Current surface water flood risk based on 30year and 100year events 
Low risk 
 
Comments: 
 
Current surface water mapping shows that the proposed site is at low risk from surface water 
flooding. 
 
This risk is based on modelled data only and should not be taken as meaning that the site 
will/will not definitely flood in these events. 
 
Any existing surface water flow paths across the site should be maintained and mitigation 
measures proposed for areas at high risk. 
 
Reason: NPPF paragraph 163 states - 'When determining any planning application, local 
planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere.' 
 
Modelled groundwater flood hazard classification 
Low risk 
 
Comments: 
 
The area of the proposed development is shown to be at low risk from groundwater flooding 
based on current mapping. This risk is based on modelled data only and should not be taken 
as meaning that the site will/will not suffer groundwater flooding. 
 
Ground water contamination and Source Protection Zones. 
 
The potential for ground water contamination within a source protection zone has not been 
considered by the LLFA. The LPA should consult with the EA if this is considered as risk. 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 49



 

Ordinary Watercourses nearby? No 
 
Comments: 
 
Current Ordnance Survey mapping shows no ordinary watercourses in close proximity to the 
site. 
 
Local or field boundary ditches, not shown on Ordnance Survey mapping, may exist around 
or across the site. If present these should be maintained and highlighted on future plans. 
 
Works affecting the flow of an ordinary watercourse will require ordinary watercourse 
consent and an appropriate development-free buffer zone should be incorporated into the 
design of the development. 
 
Records of any historic flooding within the site? 
No 
 
Comments: 
 
We do not have any records of historic surface flooding within the confines of the proposed 
site. This should not be taken that this site has never suffered from flooding, only that it has 
never been reported to the LLFA. 
 
Future development - Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
 
The Surface and Foul Water Drainage Strategy Report included with this application state 
that Sustainable Drainage techniques (permeable paving/below ground attenuation) would 
be used to control the surface water runoff from the site. These methods would, in principle, 
meet the requirements of the NPPF and associated guidance documents. 
 
It is recommended that this application be reviewed by the District Council Drainage 
Engineer to identify site specific land use considerations that may affect surface water 
management and for a technical review of the drainage systems proposed. 
 
Development should not commence until finalised detailed surface water drainage designs 
and calculations for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles, for the development 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
drainage designs should demonstrate that the surface water runoff generated up to and 
including the 100 year, plus climate change, critical storm will not exceed the run-off from the 
current site following the corresponding rainfall event. 
 
Development shall not commence until full details of the maintenance and management of 
the SuDS system is set out in a site-specific maintenance manual and submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved designs. 
Please note that Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 has not yet been 
implemented and WSCC does not currently expect to act as the SuDS Approval Body (SAB) 
in this matter. 
 
WSCC Highways 
 
West Sussex County Council, in its capacity as the Local Highway Authority (LHA), have 
been re-consulted on proposals for demolition of existing building and erection of 
entertainment/community venue. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 50



 

In LHA comments dated 3rd September 2019 further information was requested in respect to 
the proposed car park alterations, extent of kerb reinstatement works, trip generation 
information and accessibility information including provision of bicycle parking. 
 
A Transport Statement (TS) has been provided which addresses the previous issues raised, 
as commented in detail below. 
 
Car Parking 
 
The TS outlines that 9 x spaces in the existing car park to the rear will be lost to 
accommodate the proposed pedestrian link to the site. However, reconfiguration of existing 
spaces will allow for 6 x additional disabled spaces. The areas where parking arrangements 
will be altered appears to be included within red edge of site. 
 
Parking demand as per WSCC Guidance could see a maximum of 1 space per 15m2 of floor 
area. With 1150m2 D2 floor space being provided, a demand for 77 x spaces could result. 
As the public car park to the rear can accommodate approximately 302 x cars, it is 
considered that it will be able to accommodate the additional parking demand. 
 
Access Works 
 
The footway and kerb along the site and Cyprus Hall are currently dropped. The applicant 
should contact WSCC Implementation team for a minor works licence to reinstate these.  
Whilst the trees do appear to be planted outside of the publicly maintained footway, finalised 
details on siting of these and approval would be given at technical approval stage, to ensure 
they do not impact public footway. It would appear that parking on frontage of site and 
Cyprus Hall is to be removed. Nevertheless, the LHA consider that with parking restrictions 
along Cyprus Road and existence of large public car park to rear of site, that this would not 
pose highway safety reason to resist the application. 
 
Road Network Capacity & Trip Generation 
 
As the existing Royal British Legion Club has not been in use for several years, a worst-case 
scenario of no existing traffic generation has been applied. Using the TRICs (Trip Rate 
Information Computer Systems) database with suitable parameters, it was found that during 
standard commuter AM peak of 08:00-09:00 the venue would be closed and thus no 
associated trips created. Between 17:00-18:00 10 x trips would be anticipated. The peak 
time for D2 use would be 19:00-20:00 and 22:00-23:00, outside of commuter peak hour trips. 
The TRICs assessment suggests that 69 x 2-way trips in the early evening peak and 54 x 2-
way trips in the late evening peak could be expected. 
 
It is worth noting the theatre venue can hold 298 capacity including standing. In the worst 
case scenario of 100% occupancy of theatre and 100% arrivals by car (with vehicle 
occupancy rate of 2.5 people per car), a total of 119 vehicles accumulation could occur.  
However, considering central Burgess Hill location and possibility for arrival by other modes 
of transport, if 50% modal split for cars then actual vehicle accumulation could be less (60). 
 
Furthermore, the LHA also advise that a Travel Plan Statement be provided. This could 
include commitment to providing information of sustainable transport options on a dedicated 
website for visitors and car sharing scheme and provision of public transport taster tickets/ 
bike shop discounts for staff. Whilst this will aim to mitigate the additional vehicle trips on 
road network, the LHA does not consider that a capacity issue will result on the nearby road 
network as a result of the proposals. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 51



 

Accessibility 
 
The TS sets out detail of public transport available nearby including train services from 
Burgess Hill Station, which is 5 minute walk from the site. Closest bus stops have also been 
identified as approximately 150 metres from the site and the services available have been 
outlined. Whilst services operate to 7.30pm, it is considered that they could be used to 
access the site or make up part of journey. 
 
Cycling and walking could also be used to reach the site with footways street lit and 
pedestrian infrastructure/ crossings in the vicinity. Pedestrian access is to be from Cyprus 
Road and improved pedestrian link to the rear of the site will link with the Cyprus Road Car 
Park. 
 
WSCC guidance states that 1 x cycle space per 4 staff and visitor/customer cycle parking 
should be provided. 9 x new cycle racks are proposed in the public car park. Considering 
scale of venue and unknown staff number, the LHA advise that cycle parking for staff is 
secured within a dedicated facility within the building, or that more bicycle parking is 
provided with the car park. Details of this can be secured via condition. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Local Highway Authority does not consider that the proposal would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in 'severe' cumulative impacts on the 
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal. 
 
Conditions 
 
Cycle parking 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until covered and secure cycle parking 
spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance with current 
sustainable transport policies. 
 
Travel Plan Statement 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until such time as a Travel Plan Statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel 
Plan Statement shall be completed in accordance with the latest guidance and good practice 
documentation as published by the Department for Transport or as advised by the Highway 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport. 
 
Construction Management Plan 
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the approved Plan shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the 
entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not necessarily 
be restricted to the following matters: 

 the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during construction, 

 the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction, 

 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors, 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 52



 

 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste, 

 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development, 

 the erection and maintenance of security hoarding, 

 the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the impact 
of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of temporary Traffic 
Regulation Orders), 

 details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works. 
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area. 
 
INFORMATIVE 
The applicant is required to obtain all appropriate consents from West Sussex County 
Council, as Highway Authority, to cover the off-site highway works. The applicant is 
requested to contact The Implementation Team Leader (01243 642105) to commence this 
process. The applicant is advised that it is an offence to undertake any works within the 
highway prior to the agreement being in place. 
 
Consultant Ecologist 
 
To be reported. 
 
Southern Water 
 
To be reported. 
 
Sussex Police 
 
Thank you for your correspondence of 13th August 2019, advising me of a planning 
application for the demolition of the existing Royal British Legion Club and erection of an 
entertainment and community venue, to include a 237-seat theatre, a multi-purpose 
dance/rehearsal studio, meeting rooms and dressing room/support spaces. The flexible 
front-of-house foyer spaces will incorporate an associated café/bar operation to support the 
auditorium function. There will be re-landscaping works to the north and south of the new 
building and to the alleyway to the east (alongside Cyprus Hall), for which you seek advice 
from a crime prevention viewpoint. 
 
I have had the opportunity to examine the detail within the application and in an attempt to 
reduce the opportunity for crime and the fear of crime I offer the following comments from a 
Secured by Design (SBD) perspective. SBD is owned by the UK Police service and 
supported by the Home Office that recommends a minimum standard of security using 
proven, tested and accredited products. Further details can be found on 
www.securedbydesign.com 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework demonstrates the government's aim to achieve 
healthy, inclusive and safe places which are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, 
and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. With the 
level of crime and anti-social behaviour in Mid Sussex district being below average when 
compared with the rest of Sussex, I have no major concerns with the proposals, however, 
additional measures to mitigate against any identified local crime trends and site specific 
requirements should be considered. 
 
I have previously discussed and commented upon the above development regarding the 
adjacent passageway between Cyprus House and the proposed Beehive Centre with the 
agent. I would like to acknowledge the agent's co-operation with me during this pre-

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 53



 

application consultation and for their consideration in implementing my crime prevention 
comments into the development. I am very pleased with the proposals and accept the 
motivation behind their incorporation into the design and layout. I fully endorse and promote 
my crime prevention comments as presented at Appendix E within the Design and Access 
Statement that is submitted in support of this application. 
 
I recommend that SBD Commercial Development 2015 document is utilised with respect to 
implementing crime prevention advice for the proposal, ensuring that all relevant and specific 
security requirements and specifications are met during the construction of this proposed 
development. These include; certificated doors and windows, access control, intruder 
alarms, lighting, internal security measures, cycle security and parking requirements. 
 
I would also strongly advise the applicant or their agent to consult directly with Police 
Licensing at Sussex Police before making plans for licensed premises serving alcohol or 
conducting other licensable activities at this site. Additionally given the proposed quantity of 
people gathering in a public place, I recommend that the applicant seek advice from Sussex 
Police Counter Terrorist Security advisers with regards to the scheme as soon as it is 
practicable. 
 
I would also ask you to note that Sussex Police is now exploring the impact of growth on the 
provision of policing infrastructure over the coming years and further comment on this 
application may be made by our Joint Commercial Planning Manager. 
 
The Crime & Disorder Act 1998 heightens the importance of taking crime prevention into 
account when planning decisions are made. Section 17 of the Act places a clear duty on 
both police and local authorities to exercise their various functions with due regard to the 
likely effect on the prevention of crime and disorder. You are asked to accord due weight to 
the advice offered in this letter which would demonstrate your authority's commitment to 
work in partnership and comply with the spirit of The Crime & Disorder Act. 
 
This letter has been copied to the applicant or their agent who is asked to note that the 
above comments may be a material consideration in the determination of the application but 
may not necessarily be acceptable to the Local Planning Authority. It is recommended, 
therefore, that before making any amendments to the application, the applicant or their agent 
first discuss these comments with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 54



 

MID SUSSEX DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Planning Committee 
 

16 JAN 2020 

 
RECOMMENDED FOR PERMISSION 
 

Burgess Hill 
 

DM/19/3148 
 

 
©Crown Copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100021794 
 

FORMER ROYAL BRITISH LEGION HALL 30 CYPRUS ROAD BURGESS 
HILL WEST SUSSEX 
ADVERTISEMENT: BUILDING NAME 'BEEHIVE' IN BRICK LETTERING 
LIT BY SPOTLIGHTS TO NORTH AND SOUTH FACADES. BUILDING 
NAME 'BEEHIVE' IN 3-DIMENSIONAL INTERNALLY-LIT LETTERING TO 
WEST FAÇADE LED ILLUMINATED DE-SCALED STAINLESS STEEL 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 55

Agenda Item 6



 

LETTERS FINISHED IN METALLIC BRONZE COLOUR WITH 
TRANSLUCENT PERSPEX FACES. 3NO. INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED 
POSTER PANELS TO EAST FAÇADE. 1NO. INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED 
POSTER PANEL TO SOUTH FAÇADE. 1NO. INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED 
POSTER PANEL TO WEST FAÇADE. 2NO. INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED 
POSTER PANELS MOUNTED ON FREESTANDING GLAZED BRICK 'FIN' 
NORTH OF CYPRUS HALL WITH 'BEEHIVE/CYPRUS HALL' LETTERING 
TO SIDE EDGE. 2 NO. INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED POSTER PANELS 
MOUNTED ON FREESTANDING GLAZED BRICK 'FIN' SOUTH OF 
CYPRUS HALL WITH 'CYPRUS HALL' LETTERING TO SIDE EDGE. 
MR STEVEN CRIDLAND 
 
POLICY: Brownfield Land / Built Up Areas / District Plan Policy / Aerodrome 

Safeguarding (CAA) / Radon Gas Safeguarding Zone / Sewer Line 
(Southern Water) / SWT Bat Survey /  

  
ODPM CODE: Advertisements 
 
8 WEEK DATE: 29th November 2019 
 
WARD MEMBERS: Cllr Robert Eggleston / Cllr Tofojjul Hussain /   
 
CASE OFFICER: Andrew Watt 
 
 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To consider the recommendation of the Divisional Leader for Planning and Economy 
on the application for advertisement consent as detailed above. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Advertisement consent is sought for various signage on a new entertainment and 
community venue building, for which planning permission is sought separately. 
 
The application is being determined at committee level as Mid Sussex District 
Council owns the northern part of the site. 
 
The proposed signage is considered to be appropriate in terms of the design and 
would not detract from the appearance of the surrounding area.  There would also 
not be an adverse impact on highway safety as a result of the development.  The 
proposal is therefore considered to comply with the provisions of The Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 and 
paragraph 132 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 56



 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the application be approved subject to the conditions set out 
in Appendix A. 
 

 
 
TOWN COUNCIL OBSERVATIONS 
 
OBSERVATIONS: Recommend Approval 
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5 letters of objection:  
 

 Is the uplighting really required? 

 Dimmer and timing controls should be fitted 

 Excessive light pollution, glare and wasted energy 

 Distracting to drivers as they go past 

 Design and even presence of lighting is unneighbourly 

 Direct intrusion into homes opposite, with lights shining into bedrooms 
 
1 letter of support from the Theatres Trust: considers the proposed signage and 
lighting appropriate for this location, being contemporary in nature while being 
sensitive to the amenity of surrounding properties.  Poster boards can lso be 
considered a vital element of the appearance and character of theatre buildings, 
helping to raise awareness of upcoming shows and events. 
 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Advertisement consent is sought for various signage on a new entertainment and 
community venue building, for which planning permission is sought separately. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
In June 1998, advertisement consent was granted for 1 no. fascia sign to the rear of 
the club premises (BH/092/98). 
 
An application for planning permission has been submitted alongside this one and is 
being reported to this same committee for determination (DM/19/3138). 
 
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
The site consists of a vacant 2-storey flat-roofed building occupying a sloping plot 
between Cyprus Hall to the east and the Constitutional Club to the west.  Its frontage 
is onto Cyprus Road, with residential dwellings opposite, and backs onto the council-
owned car park. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 57



 

In policy terms, the site is located within the Town Centre Boundary as defined in the 
Mid Sussex District Plan and within the Civic and Cultural Quarter as defined in the 
Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan.  Cyprus Hall, adjoining the site to the north-east, 
is identified as a Building of Merit in the Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan (Policy 
H1).  Land immediately north (part of the existing car park) is allocated for housing 
development. 
 
APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
Advertisement consent is sought for various signage on a new entertainment and 
community venue building, as follows: 
 

 Building name 'Beehive' in vertical brick lettering lit by spotlights to north and 
south facades (3.4m high by 0.95m wide) 

 Building name 'Beehive' in 3-dimensional internally-lit lettering to west façade 
LED illuminated de-scaled stainless steel letters finished in metallic bronze colour 
with translucent perspex faces (1.4m high by 5m wide) 

 3no. internally illuminated poster panels to east façade (1.1m wide by 1.6m high) 

 1no. internally illuminated poster panel to south façade (1.1m wide by 1.6m high) 

 1no. internally illuminated poster panel to west façade (1.1m wide by 1.6m high) 

 2no. internally illuminated poster panels mounted on freestanding glazed brick 
'fin' north of Cyprus Hall with 'Beehive/Cyprus Hall' lettering to side edge (0.65m 
wide by 0.9m high) 

 2 no. internally illuminated poster panels mounted on freestanding glazed brick 
'fin' south of Cyprus Hall with 'Cyprus Hall' lettering to side edge (0.65m wide by 
0.9m high) 

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Legislation 
 
Town and Country Planning Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 
 
Mid Sussex District Plan (Mar 2018) 
 
No policies are considered to be relevant. 
 
Burgess Hill Neighbourhood Plan (Jan 2016) 
 
No policies are considered to be relevant. 
 
National Policy and Other Documents 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Feb 2019) 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 is also a material 
consideration and paragraph 132 is considered to be relevant to this application. 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 58



 

ASSESSMENT 
 
The Town and Country Planning Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 
2007 states that: 
 
'a local planning authority shall exercise its powers under these Regulations in the 
interests of amenity and public safety, taking into account: (a) the provisions of the 
development plan, so far as they are material; and (b) any other relevant factors'.  
Factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the locality, 
including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or similar 
interest; and factors relevant to public safety include the safety of persons using any 
highway (amongst others) and whether the display of the advertisement in question 
is likely to obscure or hinder the ready interpretation of any traffic sign (amongst 
others). 
 
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that 'the quality and character of places can suffer 
when advertisements are poorly sited and designed ... Advertisements should be 
subject to control only in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of 
cumulative impacts.' 
 
The proposed signage will be visible on each elevation, and prominently so at high 
level on the flanks in particular.  However, this is a town centre site which will be 
viewed in context with other community uses as well as residential dwellings.  In 
relation to the building itself, the advertisements are considered to be appropriate in 
size, design and siting, so would not detract from the amenity of the area. 
 
With regards to the impact on public safety, the signage proposed is there to show 
the location of this building, which will be a key element in the regeneration of the 
town centre - and this justifies its illumination.  It is not considered there would be 
any significant harm to highway safety as a result of the proposal. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The proposed signage is considered to be appropriate in terms of the design and 
would not detract from the appearance of the surrounding area.  There would also 
not be an adverse impact on highway safety as a result of the development.  The 
proposal is therefore considered to comply with the provisions of The Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 and 
paragraph 132 of the NPPF. 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A – RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 
  
 
 1. The advertisement consent hereby granted expires at the end of the period of  five 

years from the date of this notice. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with Regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (Control 

of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 59



 

 
 2. No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site 

or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 
  
 No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to: 
  
 (a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military); 
  
 (b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or 

aid to navigation by water or air; or 
  
 (c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 

surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 
  
 Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 

shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site. 
  
 Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 

advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the 
public.. 

  
 Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, the 

site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 
amenity. 

  
 Reason: To comply with Regulations 13(1)(b) and Schedule of the above 

regulations. 
 
 3. Approved Plans 
  
 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 

listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this 
Application". 

  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
 1. In accordance with Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local 
Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been 
received and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in 
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 60



 

Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application 
The following plans and documents were considered when making the above decision: 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Submitted Date 
Location Plan 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-A-

0001 
- 05.08.2019 

Block Plan 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-A-
0002 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-B1-DR-A-
0004 

- 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-B1-DR-A-
0501 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-A-
0502 

P3 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-A-
0701 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-A-
0702 

P4 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-A-
0703 

P1 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-A-
0704 

P2 05.08.2019 

Proposed Elevations 170289-AED-BH-XX-DR-A-
0705 

P1 05.08.2019 

Proposed Floor Plans 170289-AED-BH-00-DR-A-
0005 

- 05.08.2019 

 
 
 

APPENDIX B – CONSULTATIONS 
 
 
Parish Consultation 
OBSERVATIONS: Recommend Approval 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 61



This page is intentionally left blank



MID SUSSEX DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Planning Committee 
 

16 JAN 2020 

 
RECOMMENDED FOR PERMISSION 
 

Lindfield 
 

DM/19/3357 
 

 
©Crown Copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100021794 
 

HIGH TREES 41 HICKMANS LANE LINDFIELD HAYWARDS HEATH 
REPLACEMENT DWELLING. 
MR AND MRS J BURROWS 
 
POLICY:  /  
  
ODPM CODE: Minor Dwellings 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 63

Agenda Item 7



8 WEEK DATE: 31st January 2020 
 
WARD MEMBERS: Cllr Andrew Lea /  Cllr Anthea Lea /  Cllr Jonathan Ash-

Edwards /   
 
CASE OFFICER: Katherine Williams 
 
 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To consider the recommendation of the Head of Economic Promotion and Planning 
on the application for planning permission as detailed above. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Retrospective planning permission is sought for a replacement dwelling at 41 
Hickmans Lane, Lindfield.  The site falls within the built up area of Lindfield and an 
Area of Townscape Character.  
Planning permission has been previously granted by the planning committee on 29th 
May 2019 for the partial demolition of the original detached dwelling and for the 
erection of two storey and single storey front, side and rear extensions 
(DM/19/0404). That application was submitted following the refusal of application 
DM/18/3656 by the planning committee on the 17th January 2019 because of 
concerns over the adverse impact on the residential amenities of No. 43 Hickmans 
Lane.  
 
The replacement dwelling application subject of this report has been submitted 
following the demolition of the original dwelling, and works on the replacement 
dwelling have continued throughout the consideration of the application. The 
resultant new dwelling is of the same design and form as that development 
previously approved (DM/19/0404), although there has been a minor reduction in the 
height of the front projection, alterations to the fenestration and the driveway. The 
impact of the development on the amenities of neighbours would be the same as the 
approved scheme. 
 
Planning legislation requires the application to be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is therefore 
necessary for the planning application to be assessed against the policies in the 
development plan and then to take account of other material planning considerations 
including the NPPF. 
The proposed replacement dwelling is deemed acceptable in terms of design, form 
and scale and does not detract from the appearance of the surrounding dwellings or 
character of the area.  It is not considered that the proposal causes significant harm 
to neighbouring residential amenities or have a detrimental impact on the parking 
provision for the property or highway safety. It is also considered acceptable in terms 
of sustainability and drainage.   
Therefore the proposal complies with Mid Sussex District Plan policies DP4, DP5, 
DP6, DP21, DP26, DP27, DP28, DP39, DP40 and DP41, Lindfield and Lindfield 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 64



Rural Neighbourhood Plan policy 7, and the relevant provisions of the NPPF.  
 
Planning permission should therefore be granted.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to the conditions 
outlined at Appendix A. 
 

 
 
SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Three letters of representation have been received from neighbouring properties 
which raise the following concerns: 
 

 Work has already commenced 

 Increase in bulk and volume 

 Out of keeping with the character of the area and the streetscene 

 Overlooking  

 Impact on privacy  

 Poor quality design  

 Loss of trees 

 Economic benefits 

 Increase in noise and disturbance 
 
A letter of representation has also been received from the Lindfield Preservation 
Society who raise the following concerns: 

 The previous approved application failed to overcome the previous objections to 
the bulk and mass 

 Overbearing impact on neighbouring property 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS 
 
DRAINAGE ENGINEER 
 
No objection, following the submission of additional information 
 
WSCC HIGHWAYS AUTHORITY 
 
No objection following the submission of an amended plan, recommend conditions 
 
SOUTHERN WATER 
 
No objection 
 
LINDFIELD PARISH COUNCIL OBSERVATIONS 
 
No objection  

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 65



 
 

 
Introduction 
 
The application seeks planning permission for a replacement dwelling; this 
application is retrospective in nature and the replacement dwelling is nearing 
completion.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
DM/18/3656 - Partial demolition of existing detached house. Proposed single and 
two storey extensions to the front, side and rear elevations and associated 
alterations (Amended plans received 16/11/2018, 19/11/2018 and 03/12/2018). 
Refused  
DM/19/0404 - (Amended plans received 05/03/2019) Partial demolition of existing 
detached house. Proposed single and two storey extensions to the front, side and 
rear elevations and associated alterations. Granted  
DM/19/2743 - Variation of condition 2 of planning application DM/19/0404 to enable 
the substitution of drawings 0918 PL04B and P05 with drawings 0918 PL04D and 
P05A. withdrawn  
 
 
Site and Surroundings 
 
The original dwelling on the site was a two storey detached dwelling located on 
western side of Hickmans Lane, within the built up area of Lindfield and an Area of 
Townscape Character. The site is located at the end of a line of properties which are 
set back from the main highway of Hickmans Lane and accessed via Finches Park 
Road. These properties are obscured from view of the main highway by a line 
mature hedging and trees. The application site is located at the end the cul-de-sac 
and itself and No. 43 Hickmans Lane is set back from line of properties, reducing its 
visibility along the streetscene. To the south of the property is a public footpath that 
runs from Finches Park Road to Hickmans Lane, on the northern side of the footpath 
is a 2 metre boundary wall on the and a 2 metre boundary fencing to the south. 
Beyond this footpath are No.s 39, 37 and 35 Hickmans Lane, which back onto the 
footpath and the application property.  
The locality is characterised by detached dwellings of similar scales but varying 
forms, designs and external materials. The dwellings are set back from the highway 
with grassed and paved areas with mature hedging to the front of the dwellings. The 
application property has a pitched hipped roof, with a mansard roof on the front and 
southern side roof slopes which incorporates in to a modest single storey rear 
projection. To the front of the dwelling are 2 No. first floor dormer windows and front 
gable projection located in the centre of the front elevation. The dwelling is 
constructed in white render on a brick plinth, timber frame to the front garble 
projection, with plain roof tiles and black metal fenestration.  
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 66



Application Details 
 
The proposed replacement dwelling is of a the same design and form as the 
previous approved extensions under application reference DM/19/0404 which was 
determined at Committee on 29th May 2019, although there has been a minor 
reduction in the height of the front projection by some 0.4 metres, alterations to the 
fenestration and the driveway.  
 
The replacement dwelling is located in a similar position as the original dwelling; 
however it is positioned some 0.5 metres further away from the side boundary with 
No. 43 Hickmans and 1.7 metres closer to the southern side boundary with the 
public footpath. The replacement dwelling has a pitched hipped roof with two storey 
rear and front projections, the front projection would include an integral garage. The 
dwelling also includes a smaller two storey front projection with a pitched gable roof 
and a single storey flat roof extension to be flush with the two storey projection.  
 
The alterations to the fenestration from the previous approved application 
(DM/19/0404) include: 
 

 2 No. roof lanterns to the flat roof of the single storey projection; 

 the relocation of high level roof lights from the northern roof slope to the southern 
roof slope; 

 the creation of a ground floor window and door on the southern side; and 

 the repositioning of the high level windows on the southern first floor elevation.  
 
The dwelling will be constructed in white render with a stock brick plinth, plain roof 
tiles and black aluminium fenestration.  
 
The proposal also includes alterations to the driveway to move the existing drop kerb 
to the northern side of the front boundary of the site with a gravel driveway. This is to 
allow easier access into the proposed garage.  
 
List of Policies 
 
Mid Sussex District Plan (adopted March 2018) 
DP4 - Housing 
DP5 - Planning to Meet Future Housing Need 
DP6 - Settlement Hierarchy 
DP21 - Transport 
DP26 - Character and Design 
DP27 - Dwelling Space Standards 
DP28 - Accessibility  
DP39 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
DP40 - Renewable Energy schemes 
DP41 - Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
LINDFIELD AND LINDIFLED RURAL NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (made March 
2016) 
Policy 7 - Areas of Townscape Character 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 67



National Policy and Other Documents 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 is also a material 
consideration and paragraphs 8, 11, 15, 38, 47, 49, 124, 127, 148 & 153 are 
considered to be relevant to this application.  
 
Other Relevant Documents 
Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standard (Mar 2015) 
Mid Sussex Dormer Window and Rooflight Design Guidance 
 
Assessment 
 
It is considered that the main issues that need to be considered in the determination 
of this application are as follows; 

 The principle of development; 

 Design and impact on the character of the area  

 Impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties 

 Impact on future occupants of the development 

 Highway impact and parking provision 

 Sustainability 

 Drainage 

 Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
Principle of Development  
Planning legislation holds that the determination of a planning application shall be 
made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
Specifically Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states:  
 
"In dealing with such an application the authority shall have regard to: 
 
a) The provisions of the development plan, so far as material to application, 
b) And local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 
c) Any other material considerations." 
 
Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides: 
 
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination 
to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance 
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise." 
 
Under section 38(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 if a policy 
contained in a development plan for an area conflicts with another policy in the 
development plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy which is 
contained in the last document to be adopted, approved or published. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 68



Using this as the starting point the development plan in this part of Mid Sussex 
consists of the adopted District Plan and Lindfield and Lindfield Rural Neighbourhood 
Plan. 
 
The District Plan has been adopted and the Council can demonstrate a 5 year 
supply of deliverable housing land. 
 
As the proposed development is within the built up area of Lindfield, a Category 2 
settlement, the principle of a replacement dwelling is acceptable under Policy DP6 of 
the District Plan which states: 
"Development will be permitted within towns and villages with defined built-up area 
boundaries. Any infilling and redevelopment will be required to demonstrate that it is 
of an appropriate nature and scale (with particular regard to DP26: Character and 
Design), and not cause harm to the character and function of the settlement." 
 
Design and impact on the character of the area 
 
Policy DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan states: 
 
"All development and surrounding spaces, including alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings and replacement dwellings, will be well designed and reflect the 
distinctive character of the towns and villages while being sensitive to the 
countryside. All applicants will be required to demonstrate that development: 
 

 is of high quality design and layout and includes appropriate landscaping and 
greenspace; 

 contributes positively to, and clearly defines, public and private realms and 
should normally be designed with active building frontages facing streets and 
public open spaces to animate and provide natural surveillance; 

 creates a sense of place while addressing the character and scale of the 
surrounding buildings and landscape; 

 protects open spaces, trees and gardens that contribute to the character of the 
area; 

 protects valued townscapes and the separate identity and character of towns and 
villages; 

 does not cause significant harm to the amenities of existing nearby residents and 
future occupants of new dwellings, including taking account of the impact on 
privacy, outlook, daylight and sunlight, and noise, air and light pollution (see 
Policy DP29); 

 creates a pedestrian-friendly layout that is safe, well connected, legible and 
accessible; 

 incorporates well integrated parking that does not dominate the street 
environment, particularly where high density housing is proposed; 

 positively addresses sustainability considerations in the layout and the building 
design; 

 take the opportunity to encourage community interaction by creating layouts with 
a strong neighbourhood focus/centre; larger (300+ unit) schemes will also 
normally be expected to incorporate a mixed use element; 

 optimises the potential of the site to accommodate development." 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 69



 
Policy 7 of the Lindfield and Lindfield Rural Neighbourhood Plan states: 
'Development proposals in an Area of Townscape Character will be supported, 
provided applicants can demonstrate they have had regard to their impact on the 
character and appearance of the area and have sought to retain features important 
to the character of the area, as defined in the Lindfield Village Design Statement. In 
particular, proposals should:  
 
i. retain trees, frontage hedgerows and walls which contribute to the character 
 and appearance of the area;  
ii. retain areas of open space, (including private gardens) which are open to public 
 view and contribute to the character and appearance of the area; and  
iii. avoid the demolition of existing buildings which contribute to the character and 
 appearance of the area.' 
 
The replacement dwelling is similar in form to the original dwelling, although larger in 
scale, and would differ in design and material. The proposed dwelling contains a 
number of features which are seen within the locality, including pitched dormer 
windows and front gable projections. The dwelling is largely obscured from view of 
the main highway by an area of mature hedging and trees which divides the cul-de-
sac from the rest of Hickmans Lane. The replacement dwelling is visible from the 
public footpath to the southern side of the property.  
The design, form and scale of the replacement dwelling is the same as the previous 
approved application, with minor alterations, which was considered by the planning 
committee to be acceptable to the character of the area. It is therefore considered 
that the design and form of replacement dwelling is appropriate to the character of 
the area and complies with policy DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan and policy 7 
of the Lindfield and Lindfield Rural Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties 
The replacement dwelling has the same physical relationship with the surrounding 
neighbouring properties as the previously approved extensions to the original house, 
and there is not considered to be a material difference that would cause significant 
harm to the amenities of the neighbouring properties.  
 
To the northern side of the property is No. 43 Hickmans Lane. The boundary line 
between the two properties consists of a 3 metre high hedge, with a portion of 
fencing with a height of some 1.5 metres adjacent to this neighbours attached 
garage. The two storey portion of the replacement dwelling closest to this 
neighbouring property has the same relationship as the original dwelling, although 
the proposed dwelling is some 0.5 metres further away from the shared boundary. 
The design and form of the single storey rear element of the dwelling is largely 
obscured from this neighbour. The two storey rear projection is visible, however 
given its depth and separation distance to this neighbouring property it is not 
considered to cause significant harm to this neighbour's amenities.  
 
In terms of light impact, guidance is taken from the BRE "Site Layout Planning for 
Daylight and Sunlight: A guide to good practise". The "45 degree approach" should 
be taken whereby a 45 degree line is drawn from the top of the elevation and a 
second 45 degree line is taken from the end of the projection. If the centre of the 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 70



door or window of the neighbouring property lies within both lines that the building 
may cause a significant reduction in light to the window or door in question. This 
guidance is taken as a rule of thumb and each application is considered on its own 
merits.  
Having assessed the light impact to the closest ground and first floor windows to 
habitable room on the rear elevation of No. 43, omitting the ground floor rear window 
to the attached garage, the centre point of the windows do not lie within both lines. It 
is therefore considered that due to this, and the design of the proposed single storey 
rear projection, the proposal does not have a detrimental impact on light to this 
neighbour.  
 
To the southern side of the property are No.s 35, 37 and 39 Hickmans Lane, which 
back onto the side of the application property, with the public footpath in between. 
No. 35 is some 11.5 metres from the closest part of the replacement dwelling. This 
neighbouring property faces onto the end of the garden of the application property at 
an angle away from the dwellinghouse. It is considered that due to this relationship 
with the application property and the separation distance, the proposal does not 
cause harm to the amenities of this neighbour.  
 
No. 37, as with No. 35 is positioned at an angle away from the application 
dwellinghouse, and is some 9.8 metres from the closest part of the dwelling. There 
are first floor windows that face towards this neighbour, these windows are high level 
in design and would serve bathrooms. Given the design of the windows, the 
separation distance and the orientation of this neighbouring property, it is considered 
that the proposal does not cause significant harm to the amenities of this neighbour.   
 
No. 39 is some 12.5 metres from the closest part of the replacement dwelling, 
approximately 1.9 metres closer that the original dwelling. The application property is 
located to the north of this neighbour and does not have an impact on the daylight or 
sunlight to this neighbouring dwelling. It is considered that although this dwelling is 
closer to this neighbour, and greater in depth, due the relationship between the 
original dwelling and this neighbour proposal does not has an overbearing impact 
and does not cause significant harm to the amenities of this neighbour. 
 
The relationship between the replacement dwelling and the neighbouring properties 
is the same as the permitted scheme for extensions to the original house. Therefore 
the proposed replacement dwelling complies with policy DP26 and does not cause 
significant harm to the amenities of the neighbouring properties.   
 
Impact on future occupants of the development 
The Government's Technical Housing Standards - Nationally Described Space 
Standards document was published in March 2015 and replaced the Council's 
adopted Dwelling Space Standards Supplementary Planning Document on 1st 
October 2015. It sets out space standards for all new residential dwellings, including 
minimum floor areas and room widths for bedrooms and minimum floor areas for 
storage, to secure a satisfactory standard of accommodation for future residents.  
 
The proposal is to provide a four bed seven person dwelling, which from Officer 
calculations indicate that the dwelling has a floorspace of 213.65sqm, which is 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 71



exceed the floor space standards and therefore comply with policy DP27 of the 
District Plan and the National Dwelling Space Standards.  
 
Highway impact and parking provision 
 
The WSCC Highways Authority has been consulted on the application. The site is 
located on and accessed via Hickmans Lane, an unclassified cul-de-sac subject to a 
30mph speed limit. The new vehicular cross over will measure 4.3 metres, which 
confirms to the standards set out by WSCC. The measurements of the integral 
garage are 5x6 metres, which is under the WSCC parking guidance and Manual for 
Streets and therefore only allows 1 No. vehicle space, however this does allow future 
occupiers the ability to securely store cycles. There will also be sufficient space for 3 
No. parking spaces to the front of the dwelling. The Highways Authority therefore 
does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety or result in 'severe' cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway 
network, therefore not contrary to the NPPF and no transport grounds to resist the 
proposal.  
 
Sustainability 
 
While policy DP39 States: 
 
'All development proposals must seek to improve the sustainability of development 
and should where appropriate and feasible according to the type and size of 
development and location, incorporate the following measures:  
 

 Minimise energy use through the design and layout of the scheme including 
through the use of natural lighting and ventilation;  

 Explore opportunities for efficient energy supply through the use of communal 
heating networks where viable and feasible; 

 Use renewable sources of energy; 

 Maximise efficient use of resources, including minimising waste and maximising 
recycling/ re-use of materials through both construction and occupation;  

 Limit water use to 110 litres/person/day in accordance with Policy DP42: Water 
Infrastructure and the Water Environment; 

 Demonstrate how the risks associated with future climate change have been 
planned for as part of the layout of the scheme and design of its buildings to 
ensure its longer term resilience' 

 
Paragraph 148 of the NPPF states:  
 
'The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help 
to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of 
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.' 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 72



Paragraph 153 states: 
 
'In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect new 
development to: 
 
a) comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised 
energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant, having regard to the 
type of development involved and its design, that this is not feasible or viable; and 
b) take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to 
minimise energy consumption.' 
 
The Planning Statement submitted with the proposal includes reference to 
sustainability and states that the replacement dwelling includes energy saving 
measures which comply with current Building Regulations and natural resources 
where possible. The site is located within the built up area of Lindfield in proximity to 
local shops, bus routes, community facilities and train station.  
 
Although the documents submitted do not provide specific details regarding the 
sustainable measures of the dwelling the development is near completion and is 
compliant with Building Regulations requirements. It is therefore considered that 
there are insufficient grounds to refuse the application on sustainability.  
 
Drainage 
 
The proposed development is within flood zone 1 and is deemed as low fluvial flood 
risk. The site is within an area identified as having low to medium (surface) pluvial 
flood risk, however it is located adjacent to a high flood risk area.  There are not any 
historic records of flooding occurring on this site or in this area. The Council's 
Drainage Engineer has been consulted on the application, who has raised potential 
risks with the agent regarding climate change, which may increase floods extents in 
the future. A flood risk assessment has been submitted with the application and the 
connection to the public sewage system has been approved by Southern Water. The 
Drainage Engineer considers that the proposal is acceptable and does not cause an 
unacceptable risk to flooding, and is considered to comply with policy DP41 of the 
District Plan. 
 
Other matters 
Noise and disturbance created during works is not a planning consideration and is 
covered by the Environmental Protection Act 1990, which requires a duty of care 
during the proposed works not to cause nuisance to neighbours.  
 
Conclusions 
 
Planning legislation requires the application to be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is therefore 
necessary for the planning application to be assessed against the policies in the 
development plan and then to take account of other material planning considerations 
including the NPPF. 
The proposal is considered to be appropriate in terms of character and scale of the 
surround buildings and landscape; would not cause significant harm to the amenities 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 73



of neighbouring properties, would provide sufficient parking and would not cause a 
'severe' cumulative impact on the operation of the highway network, and is 
considered acceptable in terms of sustainability and drainage.  
Therefore the proposal complies with Mid Sussex District Plan policies DP4, DP5, 
DP6, DP21, DP26, DP27, DP28, DP39, DP40 and DP41, Lindfield and Lindfield 
Rural Neighbourhood Plan policy 7, and the relevant provisions of the NPPF.  
It is recommended that planning permission be granted.  
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A – RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 
  
 
 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 

from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 

listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this 
Application". 

  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 
 
 3. No external materials shall be used other than those specified on the approved 

plans and application details without the prior approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the appearance of the building and the area and to accord with 

Policy DP26 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
  
 
 4. The use of the parking area shall not commence until the vehicular access serving 

the development has been constructed in accordance with the approved site plan. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of road safety in accordance with Policy DP21 of the Mid 

Sussex District Plan. 
 
 5. No part of the development shall be first occupied until the car parking has been 

constructed in accordance with the approved site plan. These spaces shall 
thereafter be retained at all times for their designated purpose. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking 

of vehicles clear of the highway and to accord with Policy DP21 of the Mid Sussex 
District Plan. 

 
 6. No part of the development shall be first occupied until covered and secure cycle 

parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved site plan. 
  
 Reason: To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance 

with Policy DP21 of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 74



 7. The use of the access shall not commence until such time as the Existing Access 
has been closed off in accordance with the approved site plans. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of road safety in accordance with Policy DP21 of the Mid 

Sussex District Plan. 
 
 8. Notwithstanding the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or as amended in the future, no 
enlargement, improvement or other alteration of the dwelling house, whether or not 
consisting of an addition or alteration to its roof, nor any other alteration to its roof, 
shall be carried out, (nor shall any building or enclosure, swimming or other pool be 
provided within the curtilage of the dwelling house) without the specific grant of 
planning permission from the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To prevent the overdevelopment of the site and to accord with Policy DP26 

of the Mid Sussex District Plan. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
 1. Your attention is drawn to the requirements of the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990 with regard to your duty of care not to cause the neighbours of the 
site a nuisance. 

  
 Accordingly, you are requested that: 
  
 Hours of construction/demolition on site are restricted only to: Mondays to 

Fridays 0800 - 1800 hrs; Saturdays 0900 - 1300 hrs; No 
construction/demolition work on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  

 Measures shall be implemented to prevent dust generated on site from 
crossing the site boundary during the demolition/construction phase of the 
development. 

  
     No burning of materials shall take place on site at any time. 
  
 If you require any further information on these issues, please contact 

Environmental Protection on 01444 477292. 
 
 2. In accordance with Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local 
Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been 
received and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in 
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
 
 3. The applicant is advised that in addition to obtaining planning permission that 

they must also obtain formal approval from the highway authority to carry out 
the site access works on the public highway. The granting of planning 
permission does not guarantee that a vehicle crossover licence shall be 
granted. Additional information about the licence application process can be 
found at the following web page: 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 75



  
 https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-licences/dropped-

kerbs-or-crossovers-for-driveways-licence/  
  
 Online applications can be made at the link below, alternatively please call 

01243 642105. 
  
 https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-licences/dropped-

kerbs-or-crossovers-for-driveways-licence/vehicle-crossover-dropped-kerb-
construction-applicationform/ 

 
 
 

Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application 
The following plans and documents were considered when making the above decision: 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Submitted Date 
Proposed Roof Plan 0918.P05 A 19.08.2019 
Location Plan 0918.SP01  19.08.2019 
Proposed Block Plan 0918.SP02 F 19.08.2019 
Proposed Floor and Elevations Plan 0918.P04 E 19.08.2019 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B – CONSULTATIONS 
 
 
Parish Consultation 
Lindfield Parish Council has no objections to this application 
 
MSDC DRAINAGE ENGINEER - 26/09/2019 
Surface Water Drainage Proposal 
It is proposed that the development will discharge to two new soakaways; one to the front 
and one to the rear of the property. The front hardstanding is also shown to be either gravel 
or a permeable surface. 
FOUL WATER DRAINAGE PROPOSAL 
It is proposed that the development will discharge foul water drainage to the existing sewer 
as per the existing dwelling on site.  
 
FLOOD RISK 
The proposed development is within flood zone 1 and is at low fluvial flood risk. The 
proposed development is within an area identified as having possible surface water (pluvial) 
flood risk. There are not any historic records of flooding occurring on this site and in this 
area. This does not mean that flooding has never occurred here, instead, that flooding has 
just never been reported. 
 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE TEAM CONSULTATION 
The proposed development is located within an area shown to be at low to medium flood risk 
form surface water. We would advise the applicant to incorporate flood resistance and 
resilience measures into the development.  
 
The Environment Agency has produced "Standing Advice for Vulnerable Developments" 
which provides guidance into the types of flood resistance and resilience measures a 
development should incorporate. This guidance focuses on flood zones; however the advice 
is also relevant to surface water flood risk. The advice can be found at 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 76



www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-standing-advice#standing-advice-for-
vulnerable-developments   
 
A surface water sewer is located beneath the footpath which runs along the southern 
boundary of the site. Analysis using our plans suggests this plan may be approximately 4m 
from the existing dwelling. 
 
We will require further information into the location of this surface water sewer and the 
distance the proposed development shall be from this pipe. We would also advise the 
applicant that discussions with Southern Water are undertaken at this early stage in the 
application.   
 
Further general information into our requirements for foul and surface water drainage are 
included within the 'further advice' section.  
 
FURTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED 
At this time we will require the following further information:  

 Details showing the location of the proposed development in relation to the public 
surface water sewer.  

 Evidence of communication with Southern Water regarding the proposed distance 
between sewer and proposed development.  

  
FURTHER ADVICE 
SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE 
This proposed development will need to fully consider how it will manage surface water run-
off.  Guidance is provided at the end of this consultation response for the various possible 
methods. However, the hierarchy of surface water disposal will need to be followed and full 
consideration will need to be made towards the development catering for the 1 in 100 year 
storm event plus extra capacity for climate change. 
 
The proposed development drainage will need to: 

 Follow the hierarchy of surface water disposal, as set out below. 
 

 
 

 Protect people and property on the site from the risk of flooding 

 Avoid creating and/or exacerbating flood risk to others beyond the boundary of the site. 

 Match existing Greenfield rates and follow natural drainage routes as far as possible. 

 Calculate Greenfield rates using IH124 or a similar approved method.  SAAR and any 
other rainfall data used in run-off storage calculations should be based upon FEH rainfall 
values. 

 Seek to reduce existing flood risk. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 77



 Fully consider the likely impacts of climate change and changes to impermeable areas 
over the lifetime of the development. 

 Consider a sustainable approach to drainage design considering managing surface 
water at source and surface. 

 Consider the ability to remove pollutants and improve water quality. 

 Consider opportunities for biodiversity enhancement. 
 
FOUL WATER DRAINAGE 
This proposed development will need to fully consider how it will manage foul water 
drainage. The preference will always be to connect to a public foul sewer. However, where a 
foul sewer is not available then the use of a package treatment plant or septic tank should be 
investigated.  
 
The use of non-mains foul drainage should consider the Environment Agency's General 
Binding Rules. We would advise applicants that 'General Binding Rules 2020' come into 
force as of 1st January 2020. The Environment Agency have advised that any existing septic 
tank foul drainage systems that are found to not comply with the 2020 Binding Rules will 
need to be replaced or upgraded. As such any foul drainage system which proposed to 
utilise a septic tank will need to comply with the new 2020 rules. Guidance into the General 
Binding Rules can be found on the government website 
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/general-binding-rules-small-sewage-discharge-to-a-surface-
water)  
 
 FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE INFORMATION FOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
The level of drainage information necessary for submission at each stage within the planning 
process will vary depending on the size of the development, flood risk, site constraints, 
proposed sustainable drainage system etc.  The table below provides a guide and is taken 
from the Practice Guidance for the English non-statutory SuDS Standards. Additional 
information may be required under specific site conditions or development proposals. 
 

P
R

E
-A

P
P
 

O
U

T
L

IN
E
 

F
U

L
L
 

R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

 

D
IS

C
H

A
R

G

E
 DOCUMENT SUBMITTED 

✓ ✓ ✓   Flood Risk Assessment / Statement (checklist) 

✓ ✓ ✓   Drainage Strategy / Statement & sketch layout plan 

(checklist) 
 ✓    Preliminary layout drawings 

 ✓    Preliminary “Outline” hydraulic calculations 

 ✓    Preliminary landscape proposals 

 ✓    Ground investigation report (for infiltration) 

  ✓ ✓   Evidence of third party agreement for discharge to 

their system (in principle / consent to discharge) 

 
  ✓  ✓ Maintenance program and on-going maintenance 

responsibilities 
  ✓ ✓  Detailed development layout 

  ✓ ✓ ✓ Detailed flood and drainage design drawings 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 78



  ✓ ✓ ✓ Full Structural, hydraulic & ground investigations 

  ✓ ✓ ✓ Geotechnical factual and interpretive reports, 

including infiltration results 

 

  ✓ ✓ ✓ Detailing landscaping details 

  ✓ ✓ ✓ Discharge agreements (temporary and permanent) 

  ✓ ✓ ✓ Development Management & Construction Phasing 

Plan 
 
USEFUL LINKS 
Planning Practice Guidance - Flood Risk and Coastal Change 
Flood Risk Assessment for Planning Applications 
Sustainable drainage systems technical standards 
Water.People.Places.- A guide for master planning sustainable drainage into developments 
Climate change allowances - Detailed guidance - Environment Agency Guidance 
Further guidance is available on the Susdrain website at http://www.susdrain.org/resources/ 
  
INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS 
The following provides a guideline into the specific information required based on the type of 
development, location and type of surface water drainage management proposed. Multiple 
lists may be relevant to a single application. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION REQUIRED 

 

Located in Flood Zone 2 or 3. 

Located in Flood Zone 1 and greater than 1 

hectare in area. 

Located in an area where a significant flood 

risk has been identified. 

 

Flood Risk Assessment which identified what 

the flood risks are and how they will change 

in the future. Also whether the proposed 

development will create or exacerbate flood 

risk, and how it is intended to manage flood 

risk post development. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 79



DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION REQUIRED 

Multiple plot development 

A maintenance and management plan will 

need to be submitted that shows how all 

drainage infrastructure will be maintained so 

it will operate at its optimum for the lifetime of 

the development.  This will need to identify 

who will undertake this work and how it will 

be funded.  Also, measures and 

arrangements in place to ensure perpetuity 

and demonstrate the serviceability 

requirements, including scheduled 

maintenance, inspections, repairs and 

replacements, will need to be submitted.  A 

clear timetable for the schedule of 

maintenance can help to demonstrate this. 

Public sewer under or adjacent to site 

Consultation will need to be made with the 

sewerage undertaker if there is a Public 

Sewer running under or adjacent to the 

proposed development.  Building any 

structure over or within close proximity to 

such sewers will require prior permission 

from the sewerage undertaker.  Evidence of 

approvals to build over or within close 

proximity to such sewers will need to be 

submitted. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 80



DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION REQUIRED 

MSDC culvert under or adjacent to site 

Consultation will need to be made with Mid 

Sussex District Council if there is a MSDC 

owned culvert running under or adjacent to 

the proposed development.  Building any 

structure over or within close proximity to 

such culverts will require prior permission 

from Mid Sussex District Council.  Normally it 

will be required that an “easement” strip of 

land, at least 5 to 8 metres wide, is left 

undeveloped to ensure that access can be 

made in the event of future maintenance 

and/or replacement.   This matter can be 

discussed with Mid Sussex District Council 

Flood Risk and Drainage Team via 

drainage@midsussex.gov.uk. 

Watercourse on or adjacent to site 

A watercourse maintenance strip of 5 to 8 

metres is required between any building and 

the top-of-bank of any watercourse that my 

run through or adjacent to the development 

site. 

 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 81

mailto:drainage@midsussex.gov.uk


20 

{\i Information Requirements – Surface Water Drainage} 

 

 

PROPOSED SURFACE 

WATER  

DRAINAGE METHOD 

 

INFORMATION REQUIRED 

Outfall to public sewer  

Any proposed run-off to a sewer will need to be restricted in 

accordance with the Non-statutory Technical Standards for 

SuDS, so that run-off rates and volumes do not exceed the pre-

existing Greenfield values for the whole site between the 1 in 1 to 

the 1 in 100 year event. You cannot discharge surface water 

unrestricted to a sewer. 

 

Copies of the approval of the adoption of foul and surface water 

sewers and/or the connection to foul and surface water sewers 

from the sewerage undertaker, which agrees a rate of discharge, 

will need to be submitted.  It will be expected that any controlled 

discharge of surface water will need to be restricted so that the 

cumulative total run-off rates, from the developed area and 

remaining greenfield area, is not an increase above the pre-

developed greenfield rates. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 82



21 

 

PROPOSED SURFACE 

WATER  

DRAINAGE METHOD 

 

INFORMATION REQUIRED 

Outfall to watercourse  

Any proposed run-off to a watercourse will need to be restricted 

in accordance with the Non-statutory Technical Standards for 

SuDS, so that run-off rates and volumes do not exceed the pre-

existing Greenfield values for the whole site between the 1 in 1 to 

the 1 in 100 year event. You cannot discharge surface water 

unrestricted to a watercourse. 

 

If works (including temporary works) are undertaken within, 

under, over or up to an Ordinary Watercourse, then these works 

are likely to affect the flow in the watercourse and an Ordinary 

Watercourse Consent (OWC) may need to be applied for. 

Guidance into the OWC application process can be found on 

West Sussex County Council’s website at  

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-

crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-

risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/ 

OWC applications can also be discussed and made with Mid 

Sussex District Council Flood Risk and Drainage Team via 

drainage@midsussex.gov.uk. 

Soakaways  

Percolation tests, calculations, plans and details will need to be 

submitted to demonstrate that the soakaway system will be able 

to cater for the 1 in 100 year storm event plus have extra 

capacity for climate change.  It will also need to be demonstrated 

that the proposed soakaway will have a half drain time of 24 

hours or less. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 83

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/
mailto:drainage@midsussex.gov.uk


22 

 

PROPOSED SURFACE 

WATER  

DRAINAGE METHOD 

 

INFORMATION REQUIRED 

SuDS and attenuation  

Written Statement (HCWS 161) - Department for Communities 

and Local Government - sets out the expectation that sustainable 

drainage systems will be provided to new developments 

wherever this is appropriate. 

 

Percolation tests, calculations, plans and details will need to be 

submitted to demonstrate that the development will be able to 

cater for the 1 in 100 year storm event plus climate change 

percentages, for some developments this will mean considering 

between 20 and 40% additional volume for climate change but 

scenarios should be calculated and a precautionary worst case 

taken.   

 

Any proposed run-off to a watercourse or sewer system will need 

to be restricted in accordance with the Non-statutory Technical 

Standards for SuDS, so that run-off rates and volumes do not 

exceed the pre-existing greenfield values for the whole site 

between the 1 in 1 to the 1 in 100 year event.   

 

A maintenance and management plan will also need to be 

submitted that shows how all SuDS infrastructure will be 

maintained so it will operate at its optimum for the lifetime of the 

development.  This will need to identify who will undertake this 

work and how it will be funded.  Also, measures and 

arrangements in place to ensure perpetuity and demonstrate the 

serviceability requirements, including scheduled maintenance, 

inspections, repairs and replacements, will need to be submitted.  

A clear timetable for the schedule of maintenance can help to 

demonstrate this. 

 

You cannot discharge surface water unrestricted to a 

watercourse or sewer. 

 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 84



23 

 
MSDC DRAINAGE ENGINEER - 04/12/2019 
 
Item 1  
The soils information provided by Dr Elson does not evidence that permeability testing were 
carried out on the site. The soils information is simply moisture content and ground bearing 
properties. For your future developments you should be aware that permeability tests should 
be carried out using the guidance contained in DG 365 revised in February 2016. The 
guidance is available here https://www.brebookshop.com/details.jsp?id=327631  All 
developments should now be following the hierarchy of surface water management to 
ensure that flood risk and climate change are adequately managed. As you have now 
applied to Southern Water for the sewer connections at this site, in this instance there seems 
little merit in making you carry out the permeability tests retrospectively. 
 
Item 2 
When you receive approval from Southern Water for your connections to the public sewers 
please can you provide a copy to us. 
 
Item 3 
The consultation response from Natalie changed due to the fact that the application was first 
for an extension but then became a new dwelling that was already under construction so 
could not be conditioned.  
However, thank you for your document 'The On Site flood Risk Considered' which I have 
looked at and have the following comments to make; 
 
In section 3.07 you state that the Flood Risk from Surface Water is very low but there are no 
paragraphs within the document that have actually dealt with the surface water flood risk. 
For your information I have shown an extract from the gov.uk website and provided a link to 
their long term flood risk page. You can find the flood risk for any property in England by 
simply entering a postcode and then viewing the flood risk information. I have highlighted the 
information you need to toggle on to get what you need. This long term flood risk map shows 
there is a low risk of flooding on parts of the application site as concluded in your Flood 
Risk Assessment, however, the site sits adjacent to a high flood risk area. Climate change 
may well increase flood extents in the future and this is why we have requested that you 
should consider flood resistance and resilience measures for the property. You should at 
least be informing your clients of this information so they can be aware of the risk 
themselves.  
 
Now that the flood risk for this development has been assessed and you are aware of the 
risk, I have no requirement for further information related to flood resistance and resilience. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 85



24 

https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-
risk/map?easting=534183&northing=125689&address=10070626478&map=RiversOrSea 
 

 
 
WSCC Highways Authority - 04/10/2019 
This application has been dealt with in accordance with the Development Control Scheme 
protocol for small scale proposals which include up to 5 residential units or extensions to 
single units accessed from roads that do not form part of the Strategic Road Network 
(SRN). As such the comments provided by Planning Services should be considered to be 
advice only, with respect to this planning application. 
 
This proposal has been considered by means of a desktop study, using the information 
and plans submitted with this application, in conjunction with other available WSCC map 
information. A site visit can be arranged on request. 
 
I refer to your consultation in respect of the above planning application and would 
provide the following comments. 
 
Proposal Summary: 
The proposal is for the construction of a replacement dwelling. The site is located on and 
accessed via Hickmans Lane which is an unclassified cul-de-sac subject to a 30 mph Speed 
limit. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 86



25 

History 
DM/19/0404 - Permitted - Alterations and associated works. No highways concerns. 
 
Access 
The applicant states in there planning statement and application form that the access will 
remain unchanged. Upon inspection of WSCC Local mapping and submitted plans, the 
Local Highways Authority (LHA) does not believe this is so. 
 
The plans indicate that the access will be relocated to the east of the original access. 
However the applicant has failed to demonstrate the extent of the Vehicle Crossover 
(VCO), the LHA has no concerns with the principle of relocating the access, however the 
applicant should demonstrate and clarify these access works prior to determination so 
appropriate conditions and informative can be advised. 
 
An inspection of data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police over a period of the past five 
years reveals that there have been no recorded injury collisions within the vicinity of the site. 
Therefore there is no evidence to suggest that the new access would operate unsafely. 
 
Vehicle Parking and Cycle Parking 
A 4 car parking provision is proposed for the new dwelling. While that applicant has not 
demonstrated where these will be located within the parking area, the LHA have observed 
that the parking area is large enough to accommodate 3 parking spaces. 
The internal measurements of the garage are 5 x 6 metres. Under WSCC parking guidance 
and Manual for Streets (MfS) this will allow 1 vehicle to park with in the garage and allow 
future occupiers the ability to securely store cycles within. 
 
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government's 'Road to Zero' strategy for 
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) 
charging points should be provided for new homes. Based upon current EV sales rates 
within West Sussex, active charging points should be provided for a minimum of 20% of all 
proposed parking spaces. Ducting should be provided to the remaining 80% of parking 
spaces to provide 'passive' provision for these spaces to be upgraded in future. Due to the 
small scale nature of this proposal, the anticipated provision of active 
EV spaces for this development would be 1 space and should be provided in accordance 
with the above WSCC guidance and Mid Sussex Local Plan policy. 
 
Conclusion 
Whilst there are no overriding highway safety or capacity concerns with the proposal before 
me now, the applicant would be advised to modify the proposed with the new 
VCO dimensions. We would be minded that such an amendment could be secured via 
planning condition, with accommodating plans to be submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. However given recent changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) ideally this matter should be fully resolved by the applicant prior to 
determination.  
 
WSCC Highways Authority - 04/10/2019 
 
This application has been dealt with in accordance with the Development Control Scheme 
protocol for small scale proposals which include up to 5 residential units or extensions to 
single units accessed from roads that do not form part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN). 
As such the comments provided by Planning Services should be considered to be advice 
only, with respect to this planning application. 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 87



26 

This proposal has been considered by means of a desktop study, using the information and 
plans submitted with this application, in conjunction with other available WSCC map 
information. A site visit can be arranged on request. 
 
I refer to your consultation in respect of the above planning application and would provide 
the following comments. 
 
Proposal Summary 
The proposal is for the construction of a replacement dwelling. The site is located on and 
accessed via Hickmans Lane which is an unclassified cul-de-sac subject to a 30 mph Speed 
limit. 
 
History 
The Local Highways Authority (LHA) were previously consulted on the following application 
where clarity was sort in regards to the Vehicle Crossover (VCO). The following comments 
are in reply to the newly submitted plans provided. 
 
Access 
The applicant has provided an amended plan illustrating the new VCO. The plan indicates 
that the new crossover will measure 4.3 metres. This conforms to the maximum standards of 
6.4 metres as set out by WSCC. 
 
Vehicle Parking and Cycle Parking 
A 4 car parking provision is proposed for the new dwelling. While that applicant has not 
demonstrated where these will be located within the parking area, the LHA have observed 
that the parking area is large enough to accommodate 3 parking spaces. 
The internal measurements of the garage are 5 x 6 metres. Under WSCC parking guidance 
and Manual for Streets (MfS) this will allow 1 vehicle to park with in the garage and allow 
future occupiers the ability to securely store cycles within. 
 
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government's 'Road to Zero' strategy for 
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) 
charging points should be provided for new homes. Based upon current EV sales rates 
within West Sussex, active charging points should be provided for a minimum of 20% of all 
proposed parking spaces. Ducting should be provided to the remaining 80% of parking 
spaces to provide 'passive' provision for these spaces to be upgraded in future. Due to the 
small scale nature of this proposal, the anticipated provision of active 
EV spaces for this development would be 1 space and should be provided in accordance 
with the above WSCC guidance and Mid Sussex Local Plan policy. 
 
Conclusion 
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety or result in 'severe' cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway 
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 
109), and there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal. 
 
If the LPA are minded to approve the application, the following conditions should be applied: 
 
Conditions 
Access 
The use of the parking area shall not commence until the vehicular access serving the 
development has been constructed in accordance with the approved site plan. 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 88



27 

Parking 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until the car parking has been constructed 
in accordance with the approved site plan. These spaces shall thereafter be retained at all 
times for their designated purpose. 
Reason: To provide car-parking space for the use 
 
Cycle Parking 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until covered and secure cycle parking 
spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved site plan. 
Reason: To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance with current 
sustainable transport policies. 
 
Access Closure 
The use of the access shall not commence until such time as the Existing Access has been 
closed off in accordance with the approved site plans. 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 
 
Informative 
 
Vehicle Crossover - Minor Highway Works 
The applicant is advised that in addition to obtaining planning permission that they must also 
obtain formal approval from the highway authority to carry out the site access works on the 
public highway. The granting of planning permission does not guarantee that a vehicle 
crossover licence shall be granted. Additional information about the licence application 
process can be found at the following web page: 
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-licences/dropped-kerbs-or-
crossovers-for-driveways-licence/ 
 
Online applications can be made at the link below, alternatively please call 01243 
642105. 
 
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-licences/dropped-kerbs-or-cr 
ossovers-for-driveways-licence/vehicle-crossover-dropped-kerb-construction-
applicationform/ 
 
SOUTHERN WATER 
 
Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the foul and surface water 
sewer to be made by the applicant or developer. We request that should this application 
receive planning approval, the following informative is attached to the consent: 
 
A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order to 
service this development. Please read our New Connections Services Charging 
Arrangements documents which has now been published and is available to read on our 
website via the following link https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges 
 
The Councils Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the 
adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed development. 
 
The disposal of surface water from this development should be in compliance with the 
following hierarchy of Part H3 of Building Regulations: 
a) An adequate soakaway or some other adequate infiltration system. 
b) A water course. 
c) Where neither of the above is practicable: a sewer 
It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development site. 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 89



28 

Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of the 
sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence on site. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 16 January 2020 90


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 19 December 2019
	5 DM/19/3138 – Royal British Legion, 30 Cyprus Road, Burgess Hill, RH15 8DX.
	6 DM/19/3148 – Royal British Legion, 30 Cyprus Road, Burgess Hill, RH15 8DX
	7 DM/19/3357 – High Trees, 41 Hickmans Lane Lindfield, RH16 2BZ

